
 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 7TH SEPTEMBER, 2022 
 

HYBRID CHAMBER/MS TEAMS 
 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  

  
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being 

filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined 
above. 

 

 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department.  An item is 
subject to call-in within 5 working days from the date a decision is published unless 

reference to an item’s urgency is made at the time the decision is made.  Any member 
of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685 725284) or email 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

 Apologies received from Zoe Thomas. 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

OPEN SESSION 

Strategic 

3. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 - Quarter 1   

 To consider report of the Chief Executive 
 

5 - 18 

4. Annual Risk Management Progress Report 2021-
22 and Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2022-
23  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Executive 
 

19 - 58 

Portfolio 

5. Various Roads, Merthyr Tydfil – Proposed Traffic 
Regulation Orders  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

59 - 72 

6. School Balances 2021-2023   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

73 - 80 

7. Regional 1,000 Beds & Step Down Bed Proposal   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

81 - 88 



Information Reports 

8. Transforming Towns Programme for Merthyr 
Tydfil: Development Fund Application Former 
Synagogue  

 

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

89 - 92 

9. Transforming Towns Programme for Merthyr 
Tydfil: Phase 5. Re-development of Marsh House  

 

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

93 - 98 

10. NEETs Prevention and Performance 2022   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

99 - 106 

11. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

12. Exempt   

 In order for the following to be considered in 
private, it is suggested that the public be excluded 
from the meeting on the grounds that it involves 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined under Part 4 of Schedule 12A of Section 
100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 
 
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     G Thomas (Chair) 

                       A Barry (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     D Hughes, J Jenkins, M Jones and 

M Symonds 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 - Quarter 1 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The report details the projected revenue outturn for 2022/23 as at 30th June 2022, 
that is the 1st Quarter, and was considered at Budget Board on 27th July 2022. 

 
1.2 The report advises Cabinet of the projected outturn position for the 2022/23 financial 

year whilst focusing on projected major budget variances. 
 
1.3 A net revenue deficit of £1,350,000 is projected for the financial year.  The most 

significant variances are projected deficits of £482,000 for the Social Services 
Directorate, £432,000 for the Education Directorate and £832,000 against the 
Economy and Public Protection Directorate. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 

2.1 The Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 2022/23 financial year based on 
1st Quarter projections be accepted. 

 
2.2 Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be approved. 
 
2.3 Managers to urgently address projected budget deficits within their respective 

service areas, identifying all possible remedial measures to offset projected deficits, 
be approved. 

 
2.4 The transfer of £50,000 to a Business Change earmarked reserve as indicated in 

paragraph 5.16 be approved. 
 

Date Written 17th August 2022 

Report Author Steve Jones / Ian Kent / Adam Price 

Service Area Finance 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 7th September 2022 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
  
3.1 Regular planned budget monitoring is crucial in ensuring effective financial 

stewardship and accountability and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s recommended best working practices. 

 
3.2 It is considered critical that Budget Monitoring arrangements are continually 

reviewed and enhanced to ensure continued effectiveness with robust challenge 
provided by both the Budget Board and the Change and Wellbeing Programme 
Board. 

 
3.3 This report details the net revenue expenditure position for the period 1st April 2022 

to 30th June 2022 (1st Quarter) and revenue outturn projections for the 2022/23 
financial year and was considered at Budget Board of 27th July 2022. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 2022/23 
 
4.1 Detailed in Appendix 1 is the summary Revenue Budget Monitoring statement as at 

30th June 2022, with a net revenue deficit of £1,350,000 projected for the 2022/23 
financial year. 

 
4.2 Detailed in Appendix 2 are requested Budget virements resulting from budget re-

alignment, required investment and departmental re-configuration. 
 
4.3 Major variances satisfying the following criteria are disclosed in Appendix 3:   
 

 Any under / overspend of at least £50,000 

 Any under / overspend that is 10% or more of the budget and at least £20,000 in 
value 

 Any other under / overspend considered significant at the discretion of the Chief 
Finance Officer 

 
The most significant major variances are discussed in more detail below. 

 

5.0 MAJOR VARIANCES 
 

Social Services 
 
5.1 The Social Services Directorate is projected to overspend by £482,000.   
 
5.2 A deficit of £109,000 is projected for the Homes for the Elderly mainly due to high 

levels of staff sickness and vacant posts.  This is leading to a heavy reliance on 
agency staff and other staff being paid overtime at double time to cover the care 
hours. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



5.3 A surplus of £155,000 is projected for the Supported Placements budget.  The 
budget assumed 30 placements with an average annual cost of £59,210 - current 
position reflects 28 ongoing placements to the end of the year with an average 
annual cost £59,020 (there have been 32 people supported throughout the year) with 
lower costs than previous placements. 

 
5.4 A surplus of £120,000 is projected for Direct Payments.  The budget assumed 116 

packages of care with an average annual cost £20,840 - current position reflects 112 
ongoing packages with an average annual cost £21,540 (-£46,000) to the end of the 
financial year (there have been 120 people supported throughout the year).  Along 
with higher than anticipated income and recovery of balances (-£57,000) and lower 
than anticipated Service Delivery costs (-£17,000). 

 
5.5 A budget surplus of £115,000 is reported for the Independent Residential 

Establishments (IRE’s) budget.  The budget assumed 191 placements with an 
average annual cost of £33,550 - current position reflects 197 ongoing placements to 
the end of the financial year with an overall average annual cost of £32,720 (there 
have been 217 adults supported through the year). 

 
5.6 A budget deficit of £544,000 is reported for CLA Residential Placement Services.  

The budget assumed 12 residential placements with an average annual cost of 
£215,085 - current position reflects 12 ongoing placements with an average annual 
cost of £254,250 to the end of the financial year (there have been 15 children 
supported throughout the year).  The service has experienced significant increases 
to the level of care required and currently has one secure placement at £16,513 per 
week.  Earmarked reserves are also supporting this budget pressure and £180,000 
will be drawn down and is included in the outturn position. 

 
5.7 A budget deficit of £280,000 is reported for Leaving Care Support Services.  There is 

higher than anticipated spend within Stepdown provision and the need for increased 
level of support to one young person. 

 
5.8 A budget deficit of £108,000 is reported against the Social Service Grant. Welsh 

Government Grant reduced after the Medium Term Financial Plan was set. 
 

Education 
 
5.9 The Education Directorate is projected to overspend by £432,000. 

 
5.10 A deficit of £319,000 is projected for the School Transport budget.  Contract prices 

were increased by 10% in March 2022 and a further 10% in July 2022, therefore a 
de facto 21% increase on all contracts.  Projection based on all contracts to continue 
to March 2023.  However, there is currently a tender exercise ongoing to award new 
contracts from September 2022.  Therefore, this projection may increase or 
decrease depending on the results of the tender exercise. 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



5.11 On 19th July 2022, UK Government announced that Teachers in England would 
receive a pay award of 5%.  The Council’s current budgets are based on a 4% pay 
award from September 2022.  Assuming Welsh Government also agree to a 5% pay 
award the additional cost to the Authority is circa £175,000.  This additional cost will 
be funded from the pay award earmarked reserve. 

 
Economy and Public Protection 

 
5.12 The Economy and Public Protection Directorate is projected to overspend by 

£832,000. 
 
5.13 A deficit of £532,000 is projected for the Transport budget.  Home to school transport 

contractors were granted an initial 10% increase on their contract prices because of 
increased fuel costs, and a further 10% because of other Authority contract uplifts.  
We are currently projecting additional home to school transport costs of £580,000.  
£196,000 of this would be attributable to the two 10% increases granted because of 
operators' increased costs, and £384,000 of this is as a result of having to retender 
28 coach contracts with tender submissions being 47% above the previous rates.  
Taxis and minibus tenders are due to be returned so may see costs increase again. 

 
5.14 A deficit of £115,000 is projected for the Office Accommodation budget.  Manned 

security provision in Unit 5 has been increased from 25 hrs per week to 105 hrs per 
week.  Cost is projected to be £79,000 per annum compared to the budget of 
£21,000.  This is required due to ongoing works at Unit 5 and relocation of the 
Highways Depot.  The property team are looking at upgrading the CCTV system in 
order to reduce the requirement for manned security.  The Llysfaen Fach building is 
currently vacant and being managed by the Estates team.  24hr manned security 
has been put in place which is expected to be required until end of September 2022 
at a cost of £63,000, at which point a remote security system can be installed. 

 
Neighbourhood Services 

 
5.15 A surplus of £152,000 is projected for the Recycling Collection Budget.  Recycling 

income is projected to be £577,000 for the year compared to the budget of £422,000.  
Market prices for materials have stayed strong so far this year, however, these are 
volatile, and this projection may change during the year.  

 
Governance and Resources 

 
5.16 The Business Change and Risk Management projection includes a transfer of 

£50,000 to earmarked reserves to assist in financing a Senior Data Officer post for 
the 2023/24 financial year. 

 
Corporate  

 
5.17 A surplus of £202,000 is projected for the Council Tax Benefit Payments budget.  

The number of claimants is 136 fewer than estimated. 
 
 

Page 8



6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 A net deficit budget outturn of £1,350,000 is projected for 2022/23 based on the 

financial position as at 30th June 2022. 
 
6.2 The transfer of £50,000 to a Business Change earmarked reserve. 
 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

7.1 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  

 
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
10 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage 
 

0 of 6 0 of 6 6 of 6 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
 
 
 

Undertaken 
Due to be 

Undertaken 
Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

 

Yes No 

1 of 1 0 of 1 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

 
 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

0 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

The main positive impacts are that the report contributes to the financial 
sustainability of the Council and therefore enables the continued delivery 
of essential Council services. 

The main negative 
impacts are: 

There remains a number of departmental financial pressures requiring 
close monitoring.   

 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND RESOURCES 
 

Page 9



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Working 
Papers 
 

 
April 2022 to June 2022 

 
Accountancy Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report

Page 10



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022)

Corporate Summary

02-Mar-22 Vacant 30-Jun-22  

Budget Post Other Budget Outturn

Summary 2022/23 Virements Virements 2022/23 Month 3

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

Council Services

Social Services Directorate 39,399 -260 1,059 40,198 10,137 40,680 482 1.20

Education Directorate 54,656 -17 -1,047 53,592 40,888 54,024 432 0.81

Economy and Public Protection Directorate 10,418 -35 -12 10,371 4,319 11,203 832 8.02

Neighbourhood Services Directorate 12,197 -67 0 12,130 3,422 12,092 -38 -0.31

Governance and Resources Directorate 8,713 -18 0 8,695 2,065 8,540 -155 -1.78

Total 125,383 -397 0 124,986 60,831 126,539 1,553 1.24

Corporate Costs

Corporate Management - Executive 1,145 -30 0 1,115 245 1,115 0 0.00

Corporate Authority 19,049 0 0 19,049 1,683 18,846 -203 -1.07

Total 20,194 -30 0 20,164 1,928 19,961 -203 -1.01

Contributions / Recharges

Non General Fund Allocations -835 0 0 -835 0 -835 0 0.00

Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 94 0 0 94 0 94 0 0.00

Collection Fund Surplus -850 0 0 -850 0 -850 0 0.00

Corporate Vacancy Factor -1,000 427 0 -573 0 -573 0 0.00

Redundancy & EPP /slippage 791 0 0 791 0 791 0 0.00

Contribution from Budget Reserve -701 0 0 -701 0 -701 0 0.00

Total -2,501 427 0 -2,074 0 -2,074 0 0.00

COVID19 CODES

Education (FSM) 0 0 0 0 190 0 0 0.00

Corporate 0 0 0 0 220 0 0 0.00

Total 0 0 0 0 410 0 0 0.00

Net Expenditure 143,076 0 0 143,076 63,169 144,426 1,350 0.94

Year End 

Projection Variance

Appendix 1

 
 

P
age 11



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022)

Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget

Amount 

£'000 Budget

Amount 

£'000

Early Years and Youth Services (Education) -984 Early Years and Youth Services (Social 

Services)

984 Early Years and Youth Services moved from Education Directorate to the Social Services 

Directorate.

CLA Residential Placement Services 120

Special Guardianship Orders (SOTLAC) 63

CLA Fostering - In House, Kinship & 

Emergency/Respite Fostering Services
-86

CLA Fostering - Independent Fostering 

Agencies (IFA's)
86

15 placements ended after MTFP setting, offset 6 new placements started after MTFP setting 

- Budget Virement of £85,810 as restated budget position for 22/23 - vired to IFA's

Supporting Change Services -36 Fostering & Family Placement Team 36 Special Guardianship Officer post allocated to incorrect service area, virement to correct

Supporting Change Services -65 Child & Family Team 65 Team Manager post allocated to incorrect service area, virement to correct

Child & Family Team -38 Fostering & Family Placement Team 38 Support Officer post allocated to incorrect service area, virement to correct

MTCBC Group Home Llysfaen Fach (cc2481) -20 Office Accomodation (building cc4411) 20 Llysfaen care home now based at Ty Gurnos.  Element of premises budget moved to cover 

premises costs associated with Llysfaen Fach building which is being managed corporately.

Corporate Property -32 Statutory Building 

Compliance/Maintenance

32 Transfer budget for condition surveys of education properties.

Planning - Development Planning -49 Planning Development Control 49 Transfer of budget for Countryside Offcer post

Supported Placements 151

Independent Domiciliary Care 79

Direct Payments 89

Extra Care Facility 79

Independent Residential Establishments 

(IRE's)

312

CLA Residential Placement Services 61

Children with Disabilities 11

Ty Dysgu -39 Admissions 39 Programme Support Officer moved to admissions to better reflect structure.

School Meals -33 ISB 33 Transfer of budget into the ISB to fund pay awards for catering staff.

Breakfast Club -15 ISB 15 Transfer of budget into the ISB to fund pay awards for catering staff.

ISB -5 Partial Hearing Classes 5 Transfer of funding from ISB to the partial hearing class.

Extended Leadership Team -95 ALN Team 95 All staff invloved in the provision of ALN moved to a single budget line.

Extended Leadership Team -95 Early Years and Youth Management 95 Head of Community Wellbeing post to service area.

Psychological Services -170 ALN Team 170 All staff invloved in the provision of ALN moved to a single budget line.

ALN Supplies and SLA's -208 ALN Team 208 All staff invloved in the provision of ALN moved to a single budget line.

Recycling Collection (inc SWMG) -112 Refuse Collection 112 Transfer budget for 5 vacant posts to fund  agency cover (1 driver, 4 collectors).

Technical Admin Support Officer -30 Bereavement Services 30 Transfer budget for Technical Admin Officer post

-782Provision for RLW Transfer of Real Living Wage provision to service areas

Virement From Virement To

Reason for Virement

CLA Fostering - In House, Kinship & 

Emergency/Respite Fostering Services
-183

13 placements ended after MTFP setting, offset 6 new placements started after MTFP setting 

- Budget Virement of £183,360 as restated budget position for 22/23 - £120,000 vired to 

Residential £63,360 vired to SGO

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 12



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022) Appendix 3

Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation

£'000 %

1 Deprivation of Liberty (DOLs) 

Services

-25 -32.47 Additional funding received to support the ongoing operation of the Mental Capacity Act 

(MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLs) through activities such as increased 

assessments to support timeliness of applications and training.

No action

2 Initial Response Services -54 -6.99 Regional Integrated Fund (RIF) grant maximisation £754k allocation for programmes within 

the grant for 22/23

No action

3 MTBC Homes for the Elderly 109 5.28 TGN - projected overspend £21k.  This is made up of an overspend in salaries/agency of 

£25k to cover staff sickness/leave etc and small underspend across other budget heads £4k.

TBN - projected overspend of £88k. This is made up of an overspend in salaries/agency of 

£103k.  The home currently have a number of vacant posts and staff on sick.  There is 

currently a heavy reliance on agency who, as a result, are being paid basic hours and 

overtime and double/trebble time.  The projection is based on costs that have been incurred 

April - June.  Most of the posts have been appointed to awaiting checks so hopeful that when 

these are filled, there will be less reliance on agency and these costs will come down as we 

move through the year. Small underspend across other budget heads of £15k offsetting the 

overspend against salaries.

Continue to monitor.

4 MTCBC Group Home 

Llysfaen 

-63 -7.11 Projected underspend largely from salaries/direct replacement £59k.  Projection is based on 

costs currently being incurred.  Underspends against other budget heads £4k.

Continue to monitor.  Will review salary 

budgets as part of the MTFP exercise.

5 Transport (Day Services) 28 10.00 Corporate decision to increase contract rates by 10% from June 2022 in light of increasing 

fuel costs.  These have been projected from June 2022 to March 2023.  Also projects 

increased costs should contract be re-tendered from September 2022.  

Continue to monitor.

Action Taken to address

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 13



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022) Appendix 3

Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation

£'000 %

6 Supported Placements -155 -3.84 Supported Living (£38k) higher than anticipated service costs  - Supported Placements (-

£179k) - MTFP budget assumption is 30 placements with an average annual cost of £59,210 - 

current position reflects 28 ongoing placements to the end of the year with an average annual 

cost £59,020 (there have been 32 people supported throughout the year) with lower costs 

than previous placements. Young Adult Transition Provision (-£14k) services ended

Continue to monitor

7 Independent Domiciliary Care -60 -2.18 Non-Framework Services (£420k) - MTFP Budget assumes 1,058 hours per week at an 

average hourly rate of £17.49 - current position reflects 1,214 hours per week at an average 

hourly rate of £23.90.  Framework Services (-£392k) - MTFP Budget assumes 2,593 hours 

per week at an average hourly rate of £19.56 - current position reflects 2,140 hours per week 

at an average hourly rate of £19.37. Higher than anticipated Income levels (-£88k)

Continue to monitor

8 Direct Payments -120 -4.73 MTFP budget assumed 116 packages of care with an average annual cost £20,840 - current 

position reflects 112 ongoing packages with an average annual cost £21,540 (-£46k) to the 

end of the financial year (there have been 120 people supported throughout the year). Along 

with higher than anticipated income and recovery of balances (-£57) and lower than 

anticipated Service Delivery costs (-£17k)

Continue to monitor

9 Independent Residential 

Establishments (IRE's)

-115 -1.71 MTFP budget assumed 191 placements with an average annual cost £33,550 - current 

position reflects 197 ongoing placements to the end of the financial year with an overall 

average annual cost £32,720  (there have been 217 adults supported through the year). 

Continue to monitor

10 CLA Residential Placement 

Services

544 21.36 MTFP budget assumed 12 residential placements with an average annual cost £215,085 - 

current position reflects 12 ongoing placements with an average annual cost £254,250 to the 

end of the financial year (there have been 15 children supported throughout the year).  The 

service has experienced significant increases to the level of care required and currently has 1 

secure placement at £16,513per week. Earmarked reserves are also supported this budget 

pressure and £180k will be drawndown and is included in the outturn position

Continue to monitor

Action Taken to address

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022) Appendix 3

Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation

£'000 %

11 CLA Fostering - Independent 

Fostering Agencies (IFA's)

45 2.36 (£32k) - MTFP budget assumed 43 Independent Fostering Placements - current position 

reflects 43  placements ongoing to the end of financial year (there have been 46 children 

supported throughout the year) along with a further (£13k) from higher than anticipated costs 

for the regional 4C's service

Continue to monitor

12 CLA Fostering - In House, 

Kinship & 

Emergency/Respite 

Fostering Services

-76 -5.38 In House (-£67k) - MTFP budget assumed 40 placements - current position reflects 39 

ongoing placements to the end of the financial year (there have been 45 children supported 

throughout the year). Kinship (-£18k) - MTFP budget assumed 44 placements - current 

position reflects 45 placements ongoing to the end of the financial year (there have been 49 

children supported throughout the year). Support Services (Nil) currently on budget. Respite 

Services (Nil) currently on budget. Therapeutic Support Services (£9k) with a slightly higher 

than anticipated spend.

Continue to monitor

13 Leaving Care Support 

Services

280 49.73 Higher than anticipated spend within Stepdown provision and the need for increased level of 

support to 1 young person

Continue to monitor

14 Independent Safeguarding 

Services

34 26.36 Historically Safeguarding Services have used contracted Independent Review Officers 

(IRO's) to conduct CLA and CP review.   For quality and sustainability of the service, in 

2021/22 a decision was made to appoint a permanent IRO to the service.  The IRO 

commenced in April 2022 and did not start doing CLA and CP reviews straight away with 

reviews still being conducted by contracted IRO's whilst at the same time paying the salary of 

the permanent IRO.  Work has been done to identify the number of reviews that need to be 

undertaken by the IRO to generate savings.  Monthly costs are starting to reduce as the IRO 

does more CLA/CP reviews and it is expected for these to reduce further as the year goes on 

(based on current CLA numbers). 

Continue to monitor.

15 Social Services Grant 108 -10.07 Welsh Government grant reduced after Medium Term Financial Plan was set Adjust MTFP  23/24 onwards

Action Taken to address

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 15



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022) Appendix 3

Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation

£'000 %

16 School Meals 59 421.43 Projected overspend largely against salaries owing to additional 87 staff hours being added 

to the budget to accommodate increase pupils numbers, staff sickness.  Projecting a shortfall 

on adult meal income of £10k based on actual amount collected last year.  Projecting full 

spend on all other budget heads being so early on in the year.  Also assuming at least full 

spend on food supply costs in light of the current price rises in food supplies. 

Continue to monitor.

17 Breakfast Clubs 27 100.00 Projected overspend against salaries owing to additional 49 staff hours being added to the 

budget to meeting increased demand in pupils attending breakfast club and also some cases 

of 1:1 support.

Continue to monitor.

18 Special Recoupment 54 7.54 Additional placement agreed for £80k per academic year for a visually impaired pupil. Continue to monitor.

19 School Transport 319 28.06 Contract prices were in increased by 10% in March 2022 and a further 10% in July 2022, 

therefore a de facto 21% increase on all contracts.  Projection based on all contracts to 

continue to March 2023.  However there is currently a tender exercise ongoing to award new 

contracts from September 2022.  Therefore this projection may increase or decrease 

depending on the results of the tender exercise.

Continue to monitor.

20 Bus Station 23 12.04 Electricity & cleaning costs higher than anticipated. Electric vehicle charger costs now 

included.

Continue to monitor.

21 Housing 66 4.43 Additional Temporary Accommodation costs of £71K.

We budgeted for  £2.602m for 118 rooms and security  less Welsh Government funding of 

£1.856m giving a net budget of £746K.

We have had to book additional accommodation  that we anticipate will cost £224K plus we 

project additional  security costs of £75K (Blaenau Gwent requested a contribution towards 

the security costs of a hotel we use within their boundaries).

These costs are offset by projected housing benefit income of £215K and  £12K from a lower 

than budgeted room rate on two of the properties we use.

Continue to monitor 

Action Taken to address

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 16



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022) Appendix 3

Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation

£'000 %

22 Transport  532 27.18 Home to school transport contractors were granted an initial 10% increase on their contract 

prices as a result of increased fuel costs, and a further 10%  as a result of other Authority 

contract uplifts.

We are currently projecting additional home to school transport costs of £580K.  £196K of 

this would be attributable to the two 10% increases granted because of operators' increased 

costs, and £384K of this is as a result of having to retender 28 coach contracts and tender 

submissions being 47% above the previous rates.  

Taxis and minibus tenders due to be returned so may see costs increase again. 

The additional transport costs are being offset by the unbudgeted concessionary fares admin 

grant of £48K.  Administration of the concessionary fares scheme has yet to be removed 

from the Authority so we will continue to get the admin grant of £48K.

Monitor but referred to Commercial 

Manager for investigation on alternative 

service provision.

23 Office Accommodation 115 13.25 Manned security provision in Unit 5 has been increased from 25 hrs per week to 105 hrs per 

week. Cost is projected to be £79,000 pa compared to budget of £21,000. This is required 

due to ongoing works at Unit 5 and relocation of the Highways Depot. The property team are 

looking at upgrading the CCTV system, in order to reduce the requirement for manned 

security.

The Llysfaen Fach building is currently vacant and being managed by the Estates team. 24hr 

manned security has been put in place which is expected to be required until end of 

September 22 at a cost of £63,000, at which point a remote security system can be installed.

The property team are planning to 

upgrade CCTV at Unit 5 to reduce the 

manned security requirement.

24 St Tydfil's Shopping Centre 61 -9.38 £41,000 rental income has been lost. 2 commercial tenancies are ending in year, and 2 

commercial tenants have negotiated lower rents. As a result of these changes the council will 

have to make a further £20k contribution to projected service charge costs.

Continue to monitor.

Action Taken to address

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 17



General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 (As at 30 June 2022) Appendix 3

Major Variances

Ref. Budget Head Variance Variance Explanation

£'000 %

25 Waste Disposal 50 5.40 The Energy from Waste contract rate increased by more than estimated. Budget was based 

on 5% inflation, actual inflation was 8%. The additional cost of this is approx. £24,000 in 

22/23.

Projected waste sent for treatment is expected to be 11,000 tonnes, compared to budget of 

10,794 tonnes. The additional cost of this is approx. £26,000.

The MTFP will be updated to reflect the 

actual contract rate. Inflation assumptions 

for future years will have to be reviewed.

26 Recycling Collection (inc 

SWMG)

-152 -14.25 Recycling income is projected to be £577,000 for the year compared to budget of £422,000. 

Market prices for materials have stayed strong so far this year, however, these are volatile 

and this projection may change during the year.

Continue to monitor.

27 Benefits -56 -9.46 Administration Grant received was £46k more than anticipated. Agency Budget not utilised to 

P03 £6k - also note that no agency expenditure was incurred throughout 2021/22. The budget 

has been retained to ensure that resources are available in the event of additional grant 

schemes being undertaken - although external funding should be available to cover additional 

costs.

Continue to monitor.

28 Parking Services -71 42.26 Additional income generated from parking charges and penalty charge notices. Continue to monitor.

29 Council Tax Benefit 

Payments

-202 -2.95 A lower number of claims (136) than anticipated at a marginally lower (£13.50) average cost 

per claim.

Continue to monitor.

Action Taken to address

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 18



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Annual Risk Management Progress Report 2021-22 
and Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report provides information regarding the Council’s Annual Risk Management 

Progress and the proposed updated Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23. 
Governance and Audit Committee considered and agreed this report on 18th July 
2022. This report reflects the Corporate Risk Register as at 31st March 2022.  

 
1.2 All of the Corporate Risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 have remained 

as Corporate Risks for 2022-23 (at March 2022). However, an additional Corporate 
Risk relating to the Homelessness has been added and approved at Cabinet 6th 
October 2021. 

 
1.3 This report demonstrates how the Council has continued to embed the Risk 

Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 in its Corporate Risk Management Framework. 

 
1.4 To support the Council in taking well managed risks the Council has adopted the 4 

T’s best practice process as part of its Corporate Risk Management Framework, 
which are: 

 
 - Tolerate the risk; 
 - Treat/Manage the risk; 
 - Transfer the risk; and 
 - Terminate the risk. 
 

Date Written 2nd August 2022* 

Report Author Matthew Rivers 

Service Area Policy and Improvement 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 7th September 2022 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



1.5 The Council’s Corporate Risk Management arrangements described within the 
Annual Progress Report have continued to mature and strengthen the Council’s Risk 
Governance arrangements by: 

 
- Supporting the delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider  Council 

 Priorities through the identification, assessment and management of the Council’s 
 Corporate Risks. 

- Ensuring that Risk Management remains strategically focused. 
- Illustrating a clear high-level commitment to Risk Management from Corporate 

 Management Team and Councillors. 
- Adopting the 4 T’s best practice process as part of the Council’s Corporate 

 Risk Management Framework.  
- Embedding Risk Management across the Council. 
- Clear accountability and ownership. 
- Transparency in the review of risks. 
- Continuing to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of 

 Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
1.6 The report is supplemented by the following appendices: 
 
 -  Appendix 1 - Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report. 
 -  Appendix 2 - Council’s proposed Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The Corporate Risk Register as at 31st March 2022 be approved, and the progress 

made in developing Risk Management (including the review and updating of the Risk 
Management Strategy/Policy) be noted.   

 
2.2  The continued progress made regarding Risk Management requirements be noted.   
  
2.3  The Governance and Audit Committee will invite Lead Corporate Management Team 

Officers to attend the Committee on a rolling programme basis to report on progress 
in managing their Corporate Risks be noted.   

 
2.4  The proposals to continue to present reports on the Corporate Risk Register to 

Cabinet be noted.   
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 It has long been established that Elected Members should receive Risk Management 

Progress Reports via Cabinet and Governance and Audit Committee.  
 
3.2 This report reflects the Corporate Risks as at 31st March 2022, it is likely that the 

risk scores will change during 2022/23. Due to timing of local elections and the 
Governance and Audit Committee cycle, this is the earliest opportunity that this 
report could be presented to Cabinet.  It should also be noted that work is being 
done (including benchmarking and horizon scanning) to consider any new risks and 
refocusing the current risk register to ensure it reflects the current position.  

Page 20



In addition, it is proposed that quarterly reporting is undertaken (following regular 
reviewing of our corporate risks).  This will further improve our management of risk.  
The quarter 1 and 2 report is likely to be presented for Cabinet approval in October 
2022.   

 

3.3 Governance and Audit Committee (GAC) considered this report on 18th July 2022. 
Outcomes have been listed below: 

 

 The GAC agreed to invite Lead Corporate Management Team Officers to attend 
the Committee on a rolling programme basis to report on progress in managing 
Corporate Risks. 

 

 The GAC also considered the draft updated Risk Strategy/Policy providing 
considerations which have been built into the report being presented to Council. 

 

 The GAC noted and agreed with the proposals to continue to present reports on 
the Corporate Risk Register to the GAC and Cabinet, including on a quarterly 
basis. 

 

3.4 Ultimate responsibility for Risk Management within the Council rests with all Elected 
Members, whilst Cabinet is allocated responsibility for overseeing Risk Management. 
 

3.5 In summary, Elected Members roles are to: 
 

 Oversee the effective management of risk by Officers and Cabinet Members of 
the Council.  

 

 To gain an understanding of Risk Management and its benefits.  

 

 Consider the risks associated with proposals put forward in committee reports 
when making decisions recommended within the reports.  

 

 Require Officers and Cabinet Members to develop and implement an all-
encompassing approach to Risk Management.  

 

 Responsible for effective governance in the delivery of services to the local 

community.  

 

 Take a full part in the Corporate Risk Management Process as members of any 
service level or strategic boards (e.g. Budget Board, Quarterly Performance and 
Improvement Review, Recovery, Transformation and Improvement Board), 
Scrutiny, Governance & Audit Committee, Cabinet and Full Council. 

 
3.6 The role of the GAC in relation to Risk Management is to:  
 

 Provide a high-level focus on assurance and the Council’s arrangements for 
governance, managing risk, maintaining an effective control environment, and 
reporting on financial and non-financial performance.  

 

Page 21



 Consider the effectiveness of the Council’s Risk Management arrangements.  

 

 Seek assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues. 

 

4.0 COUNCIL’S ANNUAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT 
 
4.1 The Council’s Annual Progress Report on implementing Risk Management is 

attached as Appendix 1. Some of the key points to note include: 
 

 Risk Management is an integral part of the Policy and Improvement Section’s 
Strategy on a Page (SOAP), the objective of which is to deliver and support the 
RTI Plan, enabling calculated risks to be taken by applying the sustainable 
development principles.   
 

 The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification process. 
This aims to ensure that risk identification is undertaken in a structured way to 
help ensure that all potential categories of risk are considered rather than just the 
initial risks that come to mind.   
 

 The Checklist is currently based on the widely used PESTLE Model (Political, 
Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental). This risk 
categorisation model is being revised within the new Risk Management 
Strategy/Policy.   
 

 The Council has continued to embed the Risk Management requirements of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in its Corporate Risk 
Management Framework through its: 

 
o PESTLE Model. 
o (5 x 5) Risk Matrix. 
o Risk Registers. 
o Project Management Framework. 

 
This is discussed in more detail in the Annual Report in Appendix 1. 

 

 To support taking well managed risks, the Council has adopted the 4 T’s best 
practice process as part of its Corporate Risk Management Framework.  The 4 T’s 
are: 

 
o Tolerate the risk; 
o Treat/Manage the risk; 
o Transfer the risk; and 
o Terminate the risk. 
 
This helps the Council to focus its resources on those risks that need to be 
managed. 

 

 Progress on the management of the Council’s Corporate Risks was presented to 
Governance and Audit Committee on 4th October 2021. 

Page 22



 

 A Highlight Report for the Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 was considered 
and approved by Cabinet on 6th October 2021. 

 

 Each Director and Head of Service has an Operational/Service Risk Register in 
place.  These Risk Registers have been reviewed and updated for 2021-22, in line 
with the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015.  
 

 As part of the review of the Council’s Corporate Risk Register, a Risk identification 
workshop was held for Cabinet 7th March 2022 and Corporate Management Team 
on 12th January 2022.  Feedback from the workshop has informed this report. 

 

 Staff and Councillors have undertaken refresher Risk Management training 
through the Council’s eLearning Module that has been developed in partnership 
with Bob's Business. Along with Risk Management the Council uses Bob’s 
Business to provide eLearning training to staff and Councillors on 
information/cyber security and Data Protection. The training is run over the course 
of a financial year. 

 

 The Risk Management eLearning Module addresses the importance of Risk 
Management and illustrates how it supports an organisation in achieving its 
objectives. 

 

 Focused training with Elected Members has also been carried out (following the 
local government elections).   

 

 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). The IIA 
aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and 
monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principle and how it is 
seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations. This has now been updated to 
include the requirements of the socio-economic duty. Every Council and Cabinet 
Report requires an IIA. Implementation of the IIA supports how risks are taken into 
account and enables the identification of opportunities (positive impacts) and/or 
threats (negative impacts). This includes identifying actions that have been/will be 
taken to better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate any negative impacts.   
 

 The Council has a Programme Risk Log in place as part of its Recovery, 
Transformation and Improvement (RTI) Plan.  Programme risks and issues are 
reviewed and monitored on a quarterly basis as part of the risk governance 
arrangements of the RTI Plan. 

 

 The Council has a Procurement Toolkit to help service departments and staff 
when procuring goods and services. Risk Management is an integral part of this 
toolkit and will better position the Procurement Team to manage stakeholder 
expectations, and facilitate outcomes that are within the risk tolerance of the 
Council. There are many benefits to ensuring that Risk Management is embedded 
into the Procurement process, for example: 

Page 23



 
o Smarter procurement decisions – achieving both financial and non-financial 

benefits. 
o Fewer surprises; better identification and achievement of stakeholder 

expectations through acknowledgement of risks.   
o Better procurement outcomes for buyers and suppliers, satisfying the 

commercial and relationship needs of both parties. 
 

 The Procurement Toolkit is currently under review to ensure it is fit for purpose in 
readiness for the change to the Public Procurement Reform. 

 

 The Council’s Corporate Risk Management arrangements described within the 
Annual Progress Report have continued to mature and strengthen the Council’s 
Risk Governance arrangements by: 

 
o Supporting the delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider 

Council Priorities through the identification, assessment and management of 
the Council’s Corporate Risks. 

o Ensuring that Risk Management remains strategically focused at the Council. 
o Illustrating a clear high-level commitment to Risk Management from Corporate 

Management Team and Councillors. 
o Adopting the 4 T’s best practice process as part of the Council’s Corporate 

Risk Management Framework. 
o Embedding Risk Management across the Council. 
o Clear accountability and ownership. 
o Transparency in the review of risks. 
o Continuing to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Socio-economic Duty and the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

o Being visible and used by Corporate Management Team to update the Risk 
position for the Council.  

o Corporate Risk and Operational/Service Risk will form part of the Corporate 
Dashboard. 

o Using the Corporate Risk Register and process to assess impacts of the 
coronavirus pandemic. 

 

5.0 CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2021-22 
 

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification Workshops 
 
5.1 As part of the Council’s Corporate Risk Management Framework, Risk Identification 

Workshops are held for Corporate Management Team and Cabinet to identify the 
most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on the Council and/or community. 
It should be noted that the Council’s Recovery, Transformation and Improvement 
Plan acts to mitigate our Corporate Risks. 

 
5.2 The objectives of the Corporate Management Team Risk Identification 
 Workshops are as follows: 
 

Page 24



 To identify and risk score the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact 
on the Council and/or Community. 
 

 To agree risk responses for each Corporate Risk using the 4 T’s best practice 
process, which are:  

o Tolerate the risk;  
o Treat/Manage the risk, 
o Transfer the risk; and 
o Terminate the risk. 

 

 To agree the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk. 

 

 Develop robust mitigation action plans (with the teams that will work to address 
these risks). 

 

 Use benchmarking information and data to inform risk management.   
 
5.3 Risk identification workshops were held for Corporate Management Team on 12th 

January 2022 and Cabinet on 7th March 2022. This was followed up with discussions 
between CMT and Cabinet. It was agreed that all risk scores remain the same. Due 
to pre-election period coming into place soon after the joint discussion this report has 
been delayed.  The annual risk report was presented to the GAC in July 2022 for 
challenge.  This is the soonest that this report could then be presented to Cabinet.   

 
5.4 The Corporate Risk Register was reviewed in the Risk Workshops by: 
 

 Re-appraising the Corporate Risks in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register for 
2021-22 to determine if they were still Corporate Risks for 2022-23. 
 

 Agreeing risk responses for each Corporate Risk (4T’s). 
 

 Agreeing the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer & Lead Councillor / 
Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk. 

 

 Considering if there were any new Corporate Risks facing the Council and/or 
community. This included the new risk relating to the Councils response to 
Homelessness. 

 
  Analysis of Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 
 
5.5 All of the Corporate Risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 2020-21 have remained 

as Corporate Risks for 2021-22 (at March 2022). A note on the School Attainment 
risk - there was a typing error in one part of the last report to Cabinet that stated the 
risk was 20, it is in fact 25 and remains that in this report.  These are common long 
term cross cutting risks that will face this and other Councils going forward. It was 
established that this is also likely to be the case for the most recently added 
Corporate Risk regarding Homelessness. 

 

Page 25



5.6 However, it is proposed that the reputation risk is considered in a different way. 
When carrying out a benchmarking exercise as part of the SWAP audit, of the 
organisations considered, only one of them had a corporate risk of reputation. As 
such the Council is proposing reputation becomes a risk category in its updated risk 
strategy/policy. This means that reputation can be evaluated and monitored across 
all areas and risks instead of being considered as a standalone risk. If the risk 
strategy/policy is approved this change will be implemented in a future Cabinet 
report.   

 
5.7 The following new Corporate Risk has been added to the Corporate Risk Register in 

2021-22: 
 

Description of Risk Risk Cause 

Homelessness 
The risk that Homelessness in 
the County Borough will impact 
on Service Delivery and financial 
budget to cover all costs and the 
inability to meet statutory duty. 

1. Pandemic Virus – Worldwide impact 
2. Number of homeless individuals 

within the town centre 
3. Change in legislation 

 
5.8 Strictly speaking the BREXIT (EU Transition) should be removed from the Corporate 

Risk Register based on its current risk score. However, this is being monitored due to 
current funding proposals and potential changes to funding streams. Once further 
clarity is gained the risk can be reassessed. 

 
5.9 The risks that were reviewed and identified at the Cabinet risk workshop will continue 

to be managed and monitored as part of the Directors and Heads of 
Operational/Service Risk Registers that are in place across the Council. Any new 
risks that were identified by Councillors that are not currently recorded in a Risk 
Register will be added to the relevant Director/Head of Operational/Service Risk 
Register. 

 
5.10 Each Corporate Risk in the Corporate Risk Register has been allocated a Risk Type, 

Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead Councillor/Cabinet Member. 
The table below provides a summary of the Corporate Risk Register, in terms of risk 
number, type and description. The Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 is available 
in Appendix 1. 

 

Risk 
No. 

Risk Type Description of Risk 

1 (i) Finance 
 
(ii) Finance 
 

The risk that the Council does not balance the budget and is 
not financially sustainable. 
The Council is not sustainable going forward 
 

2 Reputation The risk that the Council fails to maintain and protect its 
reputation. 

3 Cyber Attack The risk that the Council is exposed to a cyber attack that 
could cause a catastrophic failure. 

4
  

School 
Attainment 

The risk that all learners do not perform at expected levels. 

Page 26



Risk 
No. 

Risk Type Description of Risk 

5 (i) Capacity 
 
(ii) Capacity 

The risk that the Council loses staff with the skills and 
capacity to deliver on key outcomes and targets. 
The risk that the Council fails to recruit and retain staff leading 
to single points of dependency. 

6 Compliance 
(previously 
referred to as 
Governance) 

The risk that the Council does not meet statutory 
requirements, laws and regulations. 

7 EU Transition 
(Brexit) 

The risk that Brexit will have an adverse economic impact at 
the national and local level that will in turn have a negative 
financial, strategic and legislative impact on the Council, and 
subsequently the delivery of public services. 

8 Safeguarding 
 

The risk that the Council does not fulfil its statutory obligations 
and the Council’s safeguarding arrangements fail to 
safeguard children, adults and Council staff. 

9 Performance The risk that the Council's statutory regulators issue a formal 
recommendation to the Council for improvement. 

10 Covid-19 The risk that the Coronavirus Pandemic will have an adverse 
health and economic impact on Merthyr Tydfil, in turn 
affecting all functions of the Council and the ability to provide 
public services across the County Borough.  

 
6.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
6.1 In order to provide Corporate Management Team, Council, Cabinet and GAC with a 

level of assurance that the Council’s Corporate Risks are being managed the 
following steps will be undertaken: 

 

 As in previous years, Lead Corporate Management Team Officers will continue to 
be invited to GAC on a rolling programme basis to report on progress in 
managing the Corporate Risks they are responsible for monitoring and managing. 

 

 Regular review of the Corporate Register (including benchmarking) resulting in 
quarterly reporting will be introduced following work with Cabinet Member, GAC 
and Scrutiny (Corporate Support and Resources), all being support this. 

 

 Continued monitoring of, and support for, Operational/Service Risk Registers. 
 
6.2 The Council’s Risk Management Strategy/Policy has been reviewed and updated.  

This requires Council approval and, as such, it is being presented to Council for 
approval in September 2022.  The Risk Management Strategy/Policy has been 
presented to the Cabinet Member for Governance and Resources, the GAC and the 
Corporate Support and Resources Scrutiny.  Feedback has been built into the 
strategy/policy.  The strategy/policy has been discussed and developed with the 
Corporate Management Team at various stages together with discussions with the 
wider Cabinet as part of the reporting process.   

 

Page 27



7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report although good 

Risk Management supports sound financial management and helps maximise 
financial resources and minimise losses. Any financial implications arising from this 
process will be reported to Cabinet/Council as appropriate, including potential 
options for funding. 

 

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

8.1 
 

Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  

4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage 
 

6 of 6 0 of 6 0 of 6 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

 

Yes No 

1 of 1 0 of 1 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

 
 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

0 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary 

The main 
positive 
impacts are: 

The Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report and updated 
Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 positively impacts on the Council’s Well-
being Objectives, sustainable development principles, protected characteristics 
(including Welsh language) and biodiversity.  
 
The Council’s Corporate Risk Register allows the Council to focus on managing 
and mitigating the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on the 
organisation and/or community, whilst the Council’s Corporate Risk 
Management arrangements described within the Annual Progress Report have 
continued to mature and strengthen the Council’s Risk Governance 
arrangements. This includes the Council continuing to embed the Risk 
Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 in its Corporate Risk Management Framework.  

Page 28



The main 
negative 
impacts are: 

No negative impacts have been identified 
 
 

 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND RESOURCES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 26 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT 

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER (MARCH 2022) 

ANAGEMENT  

 

 

 

P
age 31



Page 2 of 26 
 

Contents 
SECTION 1 – ROLE OF RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICE ................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

SECTION 2 – WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

SECTION 3 – 4 T’s OF RISK MANAGEMENT .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

SECTION 4 – DIRECTOR AND HEADS OF SERVICE RISK REGISTERS ............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

SECTION 5 – CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2021-22 .............................................................................................................................................................................. 7 

SECTION 6 – CORPRATE RISK REGISTER MARCH 2022 .............................................................................................................................................................................. 12 

SECTION 7 – RISK MANAGEMENT TRAINING ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

SECTION 8 – INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

SECTION 9 – RECOVERY, TRANSFORMATION AND RECOVERY PLAN ....................................................................................................................................................... 18 

SECTION 10 – MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN AND STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS ................................................................................................................................ 19 

SECTION 11 – PROCUREMENT RISK MANAGEMENT AND COMMERCIAL PROGRAMME ........................................................................................................................ 20 

SECTION 12 – OTHER RISK MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENTS ................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 13 – RISK GOVERNANCE .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32



Page 3 of 26 
 

SECTION 1 – ROLE OF RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICE 
What do we want to achieve? - The aim of the Corporate Risk Management Service is to promote and integrate risk management principles 
across the Council so that threats and opportunities are identified, evaluated, managed and monitored.  This will impact on: 

 

 Delivering the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council Priorities 

 The well-being of our communities and future generations 

 The organisation Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) 
 

Risk Management is an integral part of MTCBC’s governance arrangements and is part of the Policy and Improvement strategy (strategy on a 

page (SOAP)) to deliver the service in line with the sustainable development principle. 

 

Key components of the strategy are to: 

 Provide an environment, and support a culture, where calculated risks can be taken to deliver change 

 Manage Corporate Risk by effective monitoring and support in the development and delivery of action plans 
 

The Tasks for the Risk Management Service are as follows: 
 

Support the monitoring and management of the Council’s Corporate Risk Register and Service/Operational (Director) Risk Registers which 

are actively used by the Council and each Service in order to prioritise the risks to be managed and escalated as needed with actions being 

clearly set out to manage risks.   

Progress in managing Corporate Risks is reported to Governance and Audit Committee (GAC). 

Present Corporate Risk Register Reports and Highlight Reports to Cabinet. 

Continue to develop a clear understanding and knowledge of Risk Management so that Corporate Management Team and Councillors 

continue to recognise and incorporate Risk Management as part of their role. 

Continue to embed Risk Management across the Council through Performance Management and Business Planning, Financial 

Management, Programme/Project Management, Procurement, Commercialisation and Partnerships. 

Play a key role in the production of the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 

Continue to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

P
age 33



Page 4 of 26 
 

SECTION 2 – WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS 
 

PESTLE Model 

The Council has a Risk Category Checklist as part of its risk identification process. This aims to ensure that risk identification is undertaken in a 

structured way to help ensure that all potential categories of risk are considered rather than just the initial risks that come to mind. 

The Checklist is currently based on the widely used PESTLE Model (Political, Economic, Social, Technological, Legal and Environmental).  This 

is being reviewed as part of the updating of the Council’s Risk Management Strategy/Policy. 

The PESTLE Model reflects other areas of risk in relation to partnerships, procurement and reputation, and also includes Culture to ensure the 

Council considers risk from an environmental, social, economic and cultural well-being perspective in line with the requirements of the Well-being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act). 

The five ways of working (Long Term, Integration, Involvement, Collaboration and Prevention) are also included in the PESTLE Model to ensure 

they are considered when developing risk action plans. 

The PESTLE Model also forms part of the Council’s Project Management Framework. 

Council’s (5 x 5) Risk Matrix 

The Council uses a (5 x 5) Risk Matrix to assess risks in terms of ‘Impact’ and ‘Likelihood’.  This also facilitates the ability to reflect the 

requirements of the Act in terms of considering potential impacts on the well-being of communities and future generations. 

Council’s Corporate Risk Register and Director/Heads of Service Risk Registers 

The Council’s Corporate Risk Register and Director/Heads of Service Risk Registers also consider the requirements of the Act as follows: 

 Risks are considered from a community and organisational perspective in terms of assessing the risk impact on: 
o The well-being of our communities and Future Generations (Social, Economic, Environmental and Cultural Well-being) 
o Risk Impact on the Organisation. 

 Considering if risks are short, medium and/or long term. 

 Consideration of the five ways of working (Sustainable Development Principle) when identifying the controls and further actions to 
manage the risks and issues. 
 

P
age 34



Page 5 of 26 
 

SECTION 3 – 4 T’s OF RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

4 T’s 

To support the Council in taking well managed risks, the Council has adopted the 4 T’s best practice process as part of its Corporate Risk 

Management Framework, which are: 

 Tolerate the risk; 

 Treat/Manage the risk; 

 Transfer the risk; and 

 Terminate the risk. 
 

This helps the Council to focus its resources on those risks that need to be managed. For example, it has been agreed that each of the Council’s 

Corporate Risks need to be treated, therefore each Corporate Risk has a dedicated risk action plan to manage the Council’s Corporate Risks. 

The 4 T’s process has also been embedded in the Council’s Project Management Framework.  

In addition to this, as part of the Council’s Project Management Framework, Project Managers are required to identify the benefits (advantages) 

and consequences or dis-benefits (disadvantages) for each project/change, which further supports the Council in taking well managed risks.  

This includes positive or opportunity risks.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 35



Page 6 of 26 
 

SECTION 4 – DIRECTOR AND HEADS OF SERVICE RISK REGISTERS 
 

Risk Registers 

Each Director and Head of Service has a Risk Register associated with their areas of responsibilities.  These Risk Registers have been reviewed 

and updated for 2021-22.  Risk also features on Service Management Board (SMB) agendas.  This work is delivered in line with the risk 

management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  This includes the following: 

 Using the Council’s PESTLE Model, risks and issues have been identified, that could impact on: 
o Delivering the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council priorities. 
o The well-being of our communities and future generations. 
o The organisation (MTCBC). 

 Consideration of the response to each risk/issue using the 4 T’s - Tolerate the risk; Treat/Manage the risk; Transfer the risk; Terminate 
the risk. 

 Consideration if the risks and issues are short, medium and/or long term. 

 Consideration of the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development Principle) when identifying the controls and further actions to 
manage the risks and issues. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 36



Page 7 of 26 
 

SECTION 5 – CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2021-22 
The Council’s Corporate Risk Register is an essential part of the organisation’s corporate governance arrangements. 

The Corporate Risk Register allows the Council to focus on managing and mitigating the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on 

the organisation and/or community.  

The Council defines Corporate Risks as follows: 

 Significant threats:  
o to the achievement of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council priorities 
o to the well-being of communities and future generations 
o that need to be monitored corporately 

 

 Potential opportunities that may better enable delivery of: 
o the achievement of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council priorities 
o outcomes for the well-being of communities and future generations 

 

The Council’s Annual Risk Management Progress Report and the Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 was presented to the GAC on 4th 

October 2021.  This was followed up by presenting the position as at March 2022 to the GAC in July 2022.   

To provide Cabinet and wider Elected Members with a level of assurance regarding how the Council’s Corporate Risks are being managed, it 

has been resolved by both the GAC and Cabinet that: 

 Lead Corporate Management Team Officers be invited to attend the GAC on a rolling programme basis to report on progress in 
managing their Corporate Risks. 
 

This provides the GAC with an opportunity to seek assurance that current/existing controls are in place and that further planned actions are being 

implemented by Lead Corporate Management Team Officers to manage the Council’s Corporate Risks. 

Progress on the management of the Council’s Corporate Risks was presented to Cabinet in Highlight Report 6th October 2021. 

 

 

 

P
age 37



Page 8 of 26 
 

Highlight Report 

It has also been resolved by the GAC and Cabinet that highlight reports on the Council’s Corporate Risk Register are presented to Cabinet, as 

well as continuing the current arrangements with the GAC. 

The highlight report provides further assurance to Cabinet that controls are in place and further actions are being implemented as planned to 

manage the Council’s Corporate Risks.  This is aimed to mitigate any negative impacts on delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and 

wider Council priorities to ensure that the risk exposure to the Council is reduced over time. 

A highlight report has been created with input from across the Council.  This document reports the Corporate Risk position at the end of quarter 

two. 

The highlight report captures the following high level risk information supported by the more detailed Corporate Risk Register: 

 Risk No. 

 Description of Risk. 

 Risk Score in the Corporate Risk Register, latest Risk Score and trend data for each Risk. 

 Progress on Actions to Manage Risk (RAG Status). 

 Assurance statement on the management of Corporate Risks and if any further actions are required. 

 Lead Corporate Management Team Officer. 

 Lead Councillor/Cabinet Member. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 38



Page 9 of 26 
 

Analysis of Highlight Report for Corporate Risk Register 2021-22 (as of September 2021) 

The following table illustrates the Council’s position regarding Corporate Risk as of September 2021:  

 The number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores have increased, decreased or remained the same 

 The percentage of the Corporate Risks where the Risk Score has reduced 
 
Appendix A, B and C provide the risk scores and trends. 

 

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores increased 0 

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores decreased 2 

Number of Corporate Risks where the Risk Scores remained the 

same 

10 

New Risk - Homelessness 1 

Total 11* 

The % of the Corporate Risks where the Risk Score has reduced. 15% 

  * - Two corporate risks (finance and capacity) are split into two parts 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 39



Page 10 of 26 
 

The Risk Scores for the following two Corporate Risks decreased: 

Risk No. Description of Risk Lead Corporate 

Management Team 

Officer 

Lead Councillor/ 

Cabinet Member 

5 Capacity 

(i). The risk that the Council loses staff with the skills and capacity to 

deliver on key outcomes and targets. 

Head of HR Cabinet Member for Governance 

& Corporate Services 

6 Compliance 

The risk that the Council does not meet statutory requirements, laws 

and regulations. 

Monitoring Officer Cabinet Member for Governance 

& Corporate Services 

 

The Risk Scores for the following nine Corporate Risks remained the same: 

Risk No. Description of Risk Lead Corporate 
Management Team 

Officer 

Lead Councillor/ 
Cabinet Member 

1 Finance 
(i). The Council does not balance the budget in-year 
(ii). The Council is not financially sustainable going forward 

Chief Finance Officer Cabinet Member for Governance 
& Corporate Services 

2 Reputation 
The risk that the Council fails to maintain and protect its reputation 

Head of Corporate 
Communications, 

Consultation & 
Engagement 

Cabinet Members 

3 Cyber Attack 
The risk that the Council is exposed to a cyber attack. 
 
 

Chief Finance Officer Cabinet Member for Governance 
& Corporate Services 

4 School Attainment 
The risk that not all learners perform at expected levels. 

Chief Officer 
(Learning) 

 

Cabinet Member for Education 

P
age 40



Page 11 of 26 
 

5 Capacity 
(ii). The risk that the Council fails to recruit and retain staff leading to 
single points of dependency. 

Head of HR Cabinet Member for Governance 
& Corporate Services 

7 Brexit (EU transition) 
The risk that Brexit will have an adverse economic impact at the 
national and local level that will in turn have a negative financial, 
strategic and legislative impact on the Council, and subsequently the 
delivery of public services. 

Deputy Chief 
Executive 

Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Housing 

8 Safeguarding 
The risk that the Council does not fulfil its statutory obligations and the 
Council’s safeguarding arrangements fail to safeguard children, adults 
and Council staff. 

Director - Social 
Services  

 

Cabinet Member for Social 
Services 

9 Performance 
The risk that the Council's statutory regulators issue a formal 
recommendation to the Council for improvement. 

Corporate 
Management Team 

 

Cabinet Member for Governance 
& Corporate Services 

10 COVID-19 
The coronavirus pandemic will have an adverse health and economic 
impact on Merthyr Tydfil, in turn affecting all functions of the Council 
and the ability to provide public services across the County Borough. 

Corporate 
Management Team 

Cabinet 

 

A new risk was identified in 2021/22.  This is detailed below. 

Risk No. Description of Risk Lead Corporate 
Management Team 

Officer 

Lead Councillor/ 
Cabinet Member 

11 Homelessness 
The risk that Homelessness in the County Borough will impact on 
Service Delivery and the financial budget to cover all costs and the 
inability to meet statutory duty. 
 

Deputy Chief Executive Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Housing 

 

 

 

P
age 41



Page 12 of 26 
 

SECTION 6 – CORPRATE RISK REGISTER MARCH 2022 
 

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification Workshops 

 

As part of the Council’s corporate risk management process, risk identification workshops are held for Corporate Management Team and 

Cabinet to identify the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on the Council and/or community.  The Corporate Management Team 

used this opportunity to strengthen treatment actions around the school attainment risk following outcome from Estyn report and the impact the 

pandemic has had on learners.   

 

Corporate and Service/Operational Risk Registers form part of the Council’s Corporate Dashboard.   

  

Risk identification workshops were held for Corporate Management Team (CMT) on 27th October 2021 and 12th January 2022.  It should also be 
noted that risk management has been built into the forward plan for Corporate Management Team meetings.  A workshop was also held with the 
Cabinet on the 7th March 2022.  Again, risk has been built into the Cabinet Forward Plan and informal meetings of the Cabinet and Corporate 
Management Team.  This report builds on the highlight report and was due to be presented to the GAC in the pre-election period in 2022.   

 

The objectives of the risk workshops are as follows: 

 To identify and risk score the most significant Corporate Risks that could impact on the Council and/or Community. 

 To agree risk responses for each Corporate Risk using the 4 T’s best practice process, which are:  
o Tolerate the risk;  
o Treat/Manage the risk, 
o Transfer the risk; and 
o Terminate the risk. 

 To agree the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer and Lead Councillor / Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk. 

 Review any escalations of risk. 

 Horizon scanning. 
 

 

 

 

P
age 42



Page 13 of 26 
 

The Corporate Risk Register was reviewed in the risk workshops by: 

 Re-appraising the Corporate Risks in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register for the year previous to determine if they were still 
currently Corporate Risks. 

 Agreeing risk responses for each Corporate Risk (4T’s). 

 Agreeing the Lead Corporate Management Team Officer & Lead Councillor / Cabinet Member for each Corporate Risk. 

 Considering if there were any new Corporate Risks facing the Council and/or community. 
 

Analysis of Corporate Risk Register – March 2022 

All of the existing Corporate Risks in the Corporate Risk Register for 2020-21 have been scored as of March 2022.  The risk scores have 

remained the same when compared to the review that took place in September/October 2021.  These are common long term cross cutting risks 

that will face this and other Councils going forward.  It was established that this is also likely to be the case for the most recently added Corporate 

Risk regarding Homelessness.   

However, it is proposed that the reputation risk is considered in a different way.  When carrying out a benchmarking exercise as part of the 

SWAP audit, of the organisations considered, only one of them had a corporate risk of reputation.  As such, the Council is proposing that 

reputation becomes a risk category in its updated risk strategy/policy.  This means reputation can be evaluated and monitored across all areas 

and risks instead of being considered as a stand-alone risk.  If approved, this change will be implemented going forward.   

Strictly speaking the BREXIT (now renamed EU Transition) risk should be removed from the Corporate Risk Register based on its current risk 

score.  The same would apply to finance risk (i), but this is likely to increase in the next financial year when budgets are set (monitoring will be 

done through the budget board and monthly finance reports).  These risks are being monitored due to current funding proposals and potential 

changes to funding streams.  Once further clarity is gained these risks can be reassessed. 

The risks that were reviewed and identified at the Corporate Management Team and Cabinet risk workshop will continue to be managed and 

monitored as part of the Corporate Management Team and Cabinet roles.  Any new risks identified that are not currently recorded in a Risk 

Register will be added as appropriate with updates reported accordingly. 

Each Corporate Risk in the Corporate Risk Register has been allocated a Risk Type, Lead Corporate Management Team Officer(s) and Lead 

Councillor/Cabinet Member(s).  The table below provides a summary of the Corporate Risk Register for the 11 Corporate Risks, in terms of risk 

number, type and description. The Corporate Risk Register for 2021-22 (March 2022) is available in appendix A.   

A heat map of our 5x5 matrix has been created for our Corporate Risks (appendix B).  This illustrates the risk scores in March 2022.  Trend data 

of risk scores over the past three years has been developed in a chart (appendix C).   

P
age 43



Page 14 of 26 
 

 

As can be seen Corporate Risks have remained the same scores.  As the Council’s RTI Plan is implemented it is envisaged that mitigation 

actions will be completed, resulting in risk scores decreasing.  Each risk will continue to be monitored as we recover from the coronavirus 

pandemic.  Lessons learnt will be built into how we address our risks.  As always, there could be other risks that are on the horizon, and these 

will be added as required if identified and meeting the criteria to be included on the corporate risk register.  Horizon scanning and risk escalation 

will remain part of this process.   

The Raising Aspirations Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy is now in place.  The benefits of this strategy will be monitored to reduce the School 

Attainment Risk.  This year it has been difficult due to schools still responding to new operating procedures, the introduction of a new curriculum 

and availability of data.  Other performance measures are being considered.  This will be monitored and challenged through the Council’s 

quarterly performance and improvement reviews (QPIRs), service management boards (SMBs) and the Scrutiny Function.   

Welsh Government has provided three year indicative settlements which will allow for longer term financial planning. The Council is still 

assessing the long term effects of the coronavirus pandemic and continues to respond.  The Commercial Team (delivering the Commercial 

Programme as part of the Council’s RTI Plan) will use opportunity risks (and use the Council’s risk appetite) to exploit positive risks to support 

addressing the financial risks of the Council.   

Safeguarding has been proposed as a separate risk category in the draft risk management strategy/policy.  By providing even more focus, this 

will help us in addressing the safeguarding risk.   

Reputation is also proposed as a risk category (instead of a separate corporate risk) again allowing this to be considered across our risks and 

services.  This will strengthen how we address our reputation through service improvement and service delivery more generally.   

As the Council reviews its Corporate Well-being Plan and develops its first Self-Assessment Report (in line with changes introduced through the 

Local Government and Elections Act 2021), there will be a greater opportunity to focus on our mitigation in addressing our performance risk.  We 

will use the increased data available through improvements as a result of implementing the RTI Plan (e.g. Corporate Dashboard and QPIR 

process).   

The Governance Improvement Programme (part of the Council’s RTI Plan) forms a critical element of the risk mitigation for the ‘Compliance 

Risk’.  Two key aspects being the scrutiny improvement programme and reviewing the Council’s constitution.   

This position has been reflected in the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for the Council.  Actions set out in the AGS will also support how we 

mitigate our Corporate Risks.   

Through continued working and networking through the WLGA, the Council will become part of a new national risk network being coordinated 
through the WLGA.  

P
age 44



Page 15 of 26 
 

 
 

SECTION 7 – RISK MANAGEMENT TRAINING 
 

Risk Management e-Learning Module 

Staff and Councillors have undertaken refresher risk management training through the Council’s e-Learning Module that has been developed in 

partnership with ‘Bob's Business’.  Along with risk management, the Council uses Bob’s Business to provide e-Learning training to staff and 

Councillors on information/cyber security and Data Protection. The training is run over the course of a financial year.  The Council’s e-learning 

offer has recently been expanded upon.  This has included working with other Councils and the WLGA.  Basic training regarding how risk 

management fits into the Council’s governance and roles and responsibilities has been provided to the GAC.  This will be supplemented by 

additional workshops.  Staff and Member training has been developed and is being delivered (including expert advice from the Council’s 

insurers).  This includes e-learning modules produced by the WLGA and information packs (including fact sheets and quizzes) produced 

internally.  This is supplemented by focused sessions with Service management Boards and when meeting with individual managers regarding 

service/operational risk registers.  We are also invested in training and membership of staff within the Policy and Improvement Section.  This has 

been predominately through ALARM and the Institute of Risk Management (IRM).  Knowledge and learning are being passed on accordingly.   

The Bob’s Business risk management e-Learning module addresses the importance of Risk Management and illustrates how it supports an 

organisation in achieving its objectives.  The Module also helps to further develop a clear understanding and knowledge of risk management 

across the Council so that Councillors and staff recognise and incorporate risk management as part of their role. 

The Module covers the following areas and at the end of the training session there is a multiple choice quiz: 

 An introduction to Risk Management. 

 The benefits of Risk Management. 

 The key elements of the Risk Management Process. 

 The 4 T’s of Risk Management (Tolerate, Treat, Transfer and Terminate). 

 Roles and Responsibilities relating to Risk Management. 
 

ICT accounts are disabled at the end of the financial year for those staff and Councillors that do not complete all of the e-Learning modules 

during the year. 

 

P
age 45



Page 16 of 26 
 

 

 

Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification Workshops 

As part of the Corporate Management Team and Cabinet Risk Identification Workshops Officers and Councillors are provided with Risk 

Management refresher training to ensure that Corporate Management Team and Councillors continue to develop a clear understanding and 

knowledge of Risk Management. This aids when recognising and incorporating Risk Management as part of their role.   

 

SECTION 8 – INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

Equality Impact Assessments 

In line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

the Council has an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process in place.  This forms part of the Council’s Integrated Impact Assessment. 

This demonstrates how Councillors, Report Authors and Project Managers considered Equality and Welsh language as part of their decision 

making. 

The EqIA also enables report authors to identify any threats (negative impacts) and/or opportunities (positive impacts) that could impact on 

Protected Characteristic Groups and the Welsh language, including identifying any related actions to mitigate any negative impacts and/or 

maximise positive impacts. 

 

Integrated Impact Assessment 

In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact 

Assessment (IIA).  The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering and monitoring services in line with the 

sustainable development principles and how it is seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Merthyr 

Tydfil, now and for future generations by: 

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil;  

 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could have on other services and organisations; 

P
age 46



Page 17 of 26 
 

 Involving people in the decisions that affect them; 

 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and  

 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring. 
  

The IIA incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable Development Principle, Equalities, Welsh language, Socio-Economic 

Duty and Biodiversity, to support effective decision making and ensuring compliance with the following legislation: 

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011. 

 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

 Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

 Socio Economic Duty  
 

 
Implementation of the IIA will: 

 

 Ensure that the sustainable development principle is at the heart of all we do and embedded in the governance processes of the 
Council.  

 Shape what we do, rather than justify what we have decided in the past - the shaping of services rather than the justifying of services.  

 Provide a focus up front and throughout the project/policy or decision cycle.  

 Enable better decision making that is transparent and based on evidence. 

 Ensure that our decisions impact in a fair way. 

 Provide a platform for partnership working (collaboration and involvement). 

 Ensure that risk is taken into account appropriately by enabling the identification of opportunities (positive impacts) and/or threats 
(negative impacts). This includes identifying actions that have been/will be taken to better contribute to positive impacts and/or mitigate 
any negative impacts. 

 Ensure under the Socio-Economic duty placed on Councils, we show due regard of inequalities of outcome caused by Socio Economic 
Disadvantage. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 47



Page 18 of 26 
 

 

  

SECTION 9 – RECOVERY, TRANSFORMATION AND RECOVERY PLAN 
The Council’s Recovery Transformation and Improvement (RTI) Plan comprises of programmes and projects that have been identified from 

across the Council, to meet the Council’s Well-being Objectives and pillars of success e.g. ensuring the Council remains sustainable.  There are 

three areas of priority. These are: Improving Education Standards; Increasing Resilience in Social Care; and Economic Recovery.  This is 

supported by the following cross-cutting support programmes: Digital Transformation; Healthy Organisation; Commercial Programme; 

Governance Improvement; Environmental Well-being (Waste Hierarchy and Decarbonisation Programme).   

The RTI Plan is governed by the Recovery Transformation and Improvement Plan Board (RTIPB). The RTIPB is chaired by the Council Leader. 

The RTIPB reviews the identified projects and has the authority to call on service managers and/or projects managers to challenge and support 

them on the delivery of programmes and projects. 

The RTI Plan works alongside the Budget Board to address the financial requirements of the Council.  The operational delivery of identified RTI 

Plan projects is monitored via the Council’s RTI Steering Group (RTISG).   

The RTISG provides challenge and support to service managers and, in conjunction with the RTIPB, hold project managers to account for 

delivering project objectives and outcomes.  The group comprises of Council officers and is chaired by the Head of Policy and Improvement and 

is made up of staff members from the Policy and Improvement Section (including Change and Transformation, Equalities, Risk, Welsh language, 

and Performance), Legal Services, Human Resources, Communications, Finance, Consultation and Engagement. This approach allows the RTI 

Plan to maintain the pace required for delivery in implementing the required change. 

The Terms of Reference for the RTISG includes RTI Plan Governance, which includes the arrangements for Risk Management as follows: 

 The Steering Group owns one or more identified project risks, the management of which it will delegate to appropriate persons (e.g. 
Heads of Service, Team Leaders, Programme or Project Managers). The Steering Group will monitor risks, and review with the 
Programme/Project Manager, any change in status and agree any action to be taken to mitigate the risks. These risks are documented 
as part of each business case within this programme and monitored under identified risk logs. 
 

The RTISG meet on a fortnightly basis to ensure the required pace of change is maintained. The RTISG receives regular reports from service 

managers responsible for the delivery of the programmes and projects. These reports update on delivery against timescales, budget, resources, 

risks and issues.  

P
age 48



Page 19 of 26 
 

RTI Plan risks and issues are logged and reviewed on a quarterly basis through a workshop facilitated by the Head of Policy and Improvement 

with Senior Change Management Officers.  A programme risk subgroup review the RTI Plan programme risks and issues at the quarterly 

workshops, which consists of the Head of Corporate Services and members of the RTISG. 

Following the risk subgroup quarterly workshops, the updated Programme Risk Log is presented to the RTISG for challenge, following which any 

significant risks and issues are escalated to the RTIPB. 

It’s also important to highlight that risk and issues are a standing item on the RTIPB and RTISG agendas and can be reported directly to the 

Head of Policy and Improvement as required. 

The scope of the RTIPB is due to be increased to be implemented alongside review of the Corporate Well-being Plan.  This could mean that the 

RTIPB (albeit with a change of title) would be able to monitor Corporate Risk.   

 

SECTION 10 – MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN AND STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 

Revised Medium Term Financial Plan to March 2022 

The risk management process and governance framework has been used in developing and approving the Council’s Medium Term Financial 

Plan.  This is reflected in the AGS.   

 

Statement of Accounts 2020-21 

The Council’s Statement of Accounts presented to Full Council includes a summary of the Council’s Corporate Risks. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49



Page 20 of 26 
 

 

 

SECTION 11 – PROCUREMENT RISK MANAGEMENT AND COMMERCIAL PROGRAMME 
The Council has a Procurement Toolkit to help service staff when procuring goods and services. 

Risk Management is an integral part of this toolkit and will better position the Procurement Team to manage stakeholder expectations and 

facilitate outcomes that are within the risk tolerance of the Council. Risk Management, when applied effectively, will assist the Procurement Team 

and services to identify changes to the procurement environment, implement treatment plans and re-engineer cost effective procurement 

processes to mitigate risk. 

The consequence of not managing risk effectively can include: 

 Discontinuity in the supply of essential goods or services. 

 Avoidable increases in project costs and in the unit costs of purchases, both immediate and longer term. 

 Loss of power and influence in relationships with essential suppliers. 

 Procurement outcomes that do not support the Councils’ needs and objectives. 

 Opportunity for fraud and corruption. 

 Negative impact on reputation in the marketplace. 

 Exposure of officers to litigation. 

 Failure in corporate governance controls. 
 

There are many benefits to ensuring that risk management is embedded into the procurement process, but there are three that would be almost 

universally achieved: 

 Smarter procurement decisions – achieving both financial and non-financial benefits. 

 Fewer surprises; better identification and achievement of stakeholder expectations through acknowledgement of risks.   

 Better procurement outcomes for buyers and suppliers, satisfying the commercial and relationship needs of both parties. 

 Risk management (e.g. risk appetite and risk opportunity) plays a vital role in the implementation of the Council’s Commercial 
Programme. 

 

The Procurement Toolkit is currently under review to ensure it is fit for purpose in readiness for the change to the Public Procurement Reform. 

 

P
age 50



Page 21 of 26 
 

 

SECTION 12 – OTHER RISK MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENTS 
Audit & Risk Management 

The Council’s Risk Management processes continue to inform Internal Audit work and similarly, Internal Audit work has supported the Risk 

Management arrangements.  An example of this is where Internal Audit has audited a number of Corporate Risks from the Corporate Risk 

Register in order to provide an independent opinion on the management of these critical risks, including the effectiveness of the internal controls 

and further actions.  This work is continuing.   

The Annual Internal Audit Report incorporates the Audit Manager’s opinion and is reported to the Council’s GAC. Based upon the work 

undertaken during the year, Internal Audit provide an opinion on the internal control environment, risk management arrangements and 

governance arrangements. 

Internal Audit (through SWAP Internal Audit Services) undertook an audit of risk management in 2021/22.  This included, but was not limited to, 

governance arrangements, the Corporate Risk Register, risk strategy/policy and processes (including escalation).  The purpose was to ensure 

that the Council has adequate processes and procedures in place.  The audit assurance opinion was ‘Reasonable’, with 3 priority 2 

recommendations and 4 priority 3 recommendations (priority 3 being the lowest urgency).  SWAP Internal Audit Services carried out a follow up 

audit in March 2022.  We have continued our improvement work (as part of our internal self-evaluation process) and the initial feedback through 

the audit assurance opinion reflected improvement remaining ‘Reasonable’ but moving towards ‘Substantial’ (with 2 priority 3 recommendations 

to be finished).  We are continuing to improve and have requested that SWAP Internal Audit Service carry out a further review to ensure this is 

reflected through audit assurance.  This will be reported back to the GAC in due course.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 51



Page 22 of 26 
 

 

SECTION 13 – RISK GOVERNANCE 
Finally, it is pleasing to report that the Council’s Corporate Risk Management arrangements described within this Annual Progress Report have 

continued to mature and strengthen the Council’s Risk Governance arrangements by: 

 Supporting the delivery of the Council’s Well-being Objectives and wider Council Priorities through the identification, assessment and 
management of the Council’s Corporate Risks. 

 Ensuring that Risk Management remains strategically focused at the Council. 

 Illustrating a clear high level commitment to Risk Management from Corporate Management Team and Councillors. 

 Adopting the 4 T’s best practice process as part of the Council’s Corporate Risk Management Framework. 

 Embedding Risk Management across the Council. 

 Clear accountability and ownership. 

 Transparency in the review of risks. 

 Continuing to consider the Risk Management requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 Being visible and used by the Corporate Management Team to update the risk position for the Council, for example outcomes from 
exam results.  Corporate Risk and Service Risk will form part of the Corporate Dashboard that has been developed. 

 Positive feedback following a SWAP Internal Audit showing continuing improvement. 

 Further development and delivery of training and associated materials. 

 Further training and memberships for staff members in the Policy and Improvement Section. 

 Increased peer support and challenge.   

 Increased focus on risk maturity, inherent and target risks, risk opportunities, risk categorisation and risk appetite. 

 Increased partnership working (collaboration and involvement). 

 Feedback from staff being included in the draft risk management strategy/policy. 

 The development of an updated risk management strategy/policy. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 52



Page 23 of 26 
 

 

APPENDIX A – SUMMARY OF CORPORATE RISK REGISTER FOR 2021-22 

Risk 
No.  

Risk Type  Description of Risk  Risk Score  
(April 2021)  

Risk Score  
 (Sept 2021)  

Risk Score  
(March 2022) 

Trend Lead Councillor / CMT Officer  

1 (i)  

Finance  

The risk that the Council does 
not balance the budget and is 
not financially sustainable.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 2  
Risk Score = 10  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 2  
Risk Score = 10  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 2  
Risk Score = 10  

 

Cabinet Member for Governance 
and Corporate Services 
Chief Finance Officer  

1 (ii)  The Council is not 
sustainable going forward.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

 

2  Reputation  The risk that the Council fails 
to maintain and protect its 
reputation.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

 Cabinet  
Head of Corporate 

Communications, Consultation & 
Engagement  

3  Cyber Attack  The risk that the Council is 
exposed to a cyber attack 
that could cause a 
catastrophic failure.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4   
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4   
Risk Score = 20  

 
Cabinet Member for Governance 

and Corporate Services 
Chief Finance Officer  

4  School 
Attainment  

The risk that all learners do 
not perform at expected 
levels.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 25  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 5   
Risk Score = 25  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 5   
Risk Score = 25  

 
Cabinet member for Education 

Director – Learning  

5 (i)  Capacity  The risk that the Council 
loses staff with the skills and 
capacity to deliver on key 
outcomes and targets.  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 16  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

 
Cabinet Member for Governance 

and Corporate Services 
Head of HR  

5 (ii)  Capacity  The risk that the Council fails 
to recruit and retain staff 
leading to single points of 
dependency  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

 
Cabinet Member for Governance 

and Corporate Services 
Head of HR  

6  Compliance 
(previously 
referred to as 
Governance)  

The risk that the Council does 
not meet statutory 
requirements, laws and 
regulations.  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 16  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

 
Cabinet Member for Governance 

and Corporate Services 
Monitoring Officer  

7  Brexit 
(EU Transition) 

The risk that Brexit will have 
an adverse economic impact 
at the national and local level 

Impact = 3  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 9  

Impact = 3  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 9  

Impact = 3  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 9  

 Cabinet member for Regeneration 
and Housing  

Deputy Chief Executive  

P
age 53



Page 24 of 26 
 

that will in turn have a 
negative financial, strategic 
and legislative impact on the 
Council, and subsequently 
the delivery of public 
services.  

8  Safeguarding  The risk that the Council does 
not fulfil its statutory 
obligations and the Council’s 
safeguarding arrangements 
fail to safeguard children, 
adults and Council staff  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

 

Cabinet Member for Social Services 
Director – Social Services 

9  Performance  The risk that the Council’s 
statutory regulators issue a 
formal recommendation to 
the Council for improvement.  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 20 

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 20 

 
Cabinet  

Corporate Management Team  

10  COVID-19  The coronavirus pandemic 
will have an adverse health 
and economic impact on 
Merthyr Tydfil, in turn 
affecting all functions of the 
Council and the ability to 
provide public services 
across the County Borough. 

Impact = 5 
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

 

Cabinet  
Corporate Management Team  

11 Homelessness The risk that Homelessness 
in the County Borough will 
impact on Service Delivery 
and the financial budget to 
cover all costs and the 
inability to meet statutory 
duty. 

 Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

 

Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Housing 

Deputy Chief Executive 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 54



Page 25 of 26 
 

 

APPENDIX B – HEAT MAP OF CORPORATE RISKS: 5x5 MATRIX 

 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Risk Register as at End of March 2022

Catastrophic 5

5 10 15 20 25

Critical 4

4 8 12 16 20

High 3

3 6 9 12 15

Medium 2

2 4 6 8 10

Low 1

1 2 3 4 5

1 2 3 4 5

Very Low 

/Rare
Unlikely Possible Probable

Certain/Almost 

Certain

Im
p

ac
t

Likelihood

School 

Attainment

i  Capacity
ii Capacity
Compliance

EU Transition

ii Finance

Reputation
Safeguarding

Cyber Attack
Covid-19
Homelessness
Performance

i Finance

P
age 55



Page 26 of 26 
 

 

APPENDIX C – CORPORATE RISK TREND DATA 

 

 

 

 

P
age 56



APPENDIX 2 - CORPORATE RISK REGISTER (MARCH 2022) 
 

Risk 
No.  

Risk Type  Description of Risk  Risk Score  
(April 2021)  

Risk Score  
 (Sept 2021)  

Risk Score  
(March 2022) 

Trend Lead Councillor / CMT 
Officer  

1 (i)  

Finance  

The risk that the Council does 
not balance the budget and is 
not financially sustainable.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 2  
Risk Score = 10  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 2  
Risk Score = 10  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 2  
Risk Score = 10  

 

Cabinet Member for 
Governance and 

Corporate Services 
Chief Finance Officer  

1 (ii)  The Council is not 
sustainable going forward.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

 

2  Reputation  The risk that the Council fails 
to maintain and protect its 
reputation.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

 Cabinet  
Head of Corporate 
Communications, 

Consultation & 
Engagement  

3  Cyber Attack  The risk that the Council is 
exposed to a cyber attack 
that could cause a 
catastrophic failure.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4   
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4   
Risk Score = 20  

 Cabinet Member for 
Governance and 

Corporate Services 
Chief Finance Officer  

4  School 
Attainment  

The risk that all learners do 
not perform at expected 
levels.  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 25  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 5   
Risk Score = 25  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 5   
Risk Score = 25  

 Cabinet member for 
Education 

Director – Learning  

5 (i)  Capacity  The risk that the Council 
loses staff with the skills and 
capacity to deliver on key 
outcomes and targets.  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 16  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

 Cabinet Member for 
Governance and 

Corporate Services 
Head of HR  

5 (ii)  Capacity  The risk that the Council fails 
to recruit and retain staff 
leading to single points of 
dependency  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

 Cabinet Member for 
Governance and 

Corporate Services 
Head of HR  

6  Compliance 
(previously 
referred to as 
Governance)  

The risk that the Council does 
not meet statutory 
requirements, laws and 
regulations.  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 16  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 12  

 Cabinet Member for 
Governance and 

Corporate Services 
Monitoring Officer  

P
age 57



7  Brexit 
(EU Transition) 

The risk that Brexit will have 
an adverse economic impact 
at the national and local level 
that will in turn have a 
negative financial, strategic 
and legislative impact on the 
Council, and subsequently 
the delivery of public 
services.  

Impact = 3  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 9  

Impact = 3  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 9  

Impact = 3  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 9  

 

Cabinet member for 
Regeneration and 

Housing  
Deputy Chief Executive  

8  Safeguarding  The risk that the Council does 
not fulfil its statutory 
obligations and the Council’s 
safeguarding arrangements 
fail to safeguard children, 
adults and Council staff  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3  
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 3   
Risk Score = 15  

 

Cabinet Member for Social 
Services 

Director – Social Services 

9  Performance  The risk that the Council’s 
statutory regulators issue a 
formal recommendation to 
the Council for improvement.  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 20 

Impact = 4  
Likelihood = 5  
Risk Score = 20 

 
Cabinet  

Corporate Management 
Team  

10  COVID-19  The coronavirus pandemic 
will have an adverse health 
and economic impact on 
Merthyr Tydfil, in turn 
affecting all functions of the 
Council and the ability to 
provide public services 
across the County Borough. 

Impact = 5 
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

 

Cabinet  
Corporate Management 

Team  

11 Homelessness The risk that Homelessness 
in the County Borough will 
impact on Service Delivery 
and the financial budget to 
cover all costs and the 
inability to meet statutory 
duty. 

 Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

Impact = 5  
Likelihood = 4  
Risk Score = 20  

 
Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration and 

Housing 
Deputy Chief Executive 

 

 

P
age 58



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Various Roads, Merthyr Tydfil – Proposed Traffic 
Regulation Orders 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 For Councillors to authorise the intention that subject to satisfactory consultation with 

a representative list of roads users (Police, Fire, Ambulance Services, Bus operators 
etc.), Public Notice be given informing of the County Borough Council’s proposal to 
make permanent Traffic Regulation Orders under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 and in the event of no objections, the Orders be made. 

 
1.2 Traffic Regulation Orders are required to be considered at the locations referred to 

below. 

 
1.3 Proposed Traffic Regulation Orders:- 
 
 a)  Bridge Street, Troedyrhiw - proposed School Keep Clear Traffic Regulation  
                      Order. 
  
 b) Dickie Bird Lane, Penyard – proposed Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time  
                      Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
           c) Tai’r Twynau Pant - proposed Prohibition of Waiting Monday to Saturday 7am 
                      to 7pm and Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
 

Date Written 1st August 2022 ** 

Report Author Martin Stark    

Service Area Engineering  

Committee Division Portfolio  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 7th September 2022 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 Subject to consultation with a representative list of roads users, the giving of Public 

Notice of the County Borough Council’s intention to make a permanent Traffic  
           Regulation Order under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, the effect of which is 
           detailed in the schedule at Appendix B, be approved;  
 
2.2 In the event of no objections being received, the making of the said permanent Order 
           be approved; 
 
2.3 If objections are received the presentation of a report to the appropriate Committee 

for consideration as soon as practicable, be approved; 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 For Councillors to authorise the intention that subject to satisfactory consultation with  

a representative list of roads users (Police, Fire, Ambulance Services, Bus operators 
etc.), Public Notice be given informing of the County Borough Council’s proposal to 
make permanent Traffic Regulation Orders under the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 and in the event of no objections, the Orders be made. 

 
3.2 The Traffic Regulation Orders to be considered are below:- 
 
 a)  Bridge Street, Troedyrhiw - proposed School Keep Clear Traffic Regulation  
                      Order. 
  
 b) Dickie Bird Lane, Penyard – proposed Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time  
                      Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
           c) Tai’r Twynau Pant - proposed Prohibition of Waiting Monday to Saturday 7am 
                      to 7pm and Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
 

4.0 PROPOSALS 
 
4.1 Bridge Street, Troedyrhiw - proposed School Keep Clear Traffic  
           Regulation Order. 
 
4.2 Concern has been raised with motorists parking on the existing Prohibition of Waiting 

At Any Time parking restrictions at Bridge Street close to the railway bridge where 
there is a footpath link to the school. To improve accessibility and road safety, it is 
proposed to introduce a 24 hour School Keep Clear Roadmarking. This will provide a 
positive impact to road safety at this location. The restriction will displace 
approximately 1 vehicle and there is capacity in the area to accommodate this. It is 
recommended a School Keep Clear Roadmarking is introduced for this reason. 
Changes to the current Traffic Regulation Order in Bridge Street would be required. 
A drawing showing the proposal is attached at Appendix A for information and a 
schedule detailed in Appendix B. 

Page 60



 
4.3 Dickie Bird Lane, Penyard – proposed Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time 
           Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
4.4 Complaints have been received from a resident concerning vehicles being parked at 

the entrance to Dickie Bird Lane off Baden Terrace junction making access in and 
out of the junction difficult and affecting vision. To improve the vision splay, it is 
proposed to introduce a Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time Traffic Regulation Order 
at the entrance to Dickie Bird Lane including the east side of Baden Terrace. The 
proposal will provide a positive impact to road safety and vision at the junction and 
parking restrictions are recommended for this reason. A drawing showing the 
proposal is attached at Appendix A for information and a schedule detailed in 
Appendix B. 

 
4.5 Tai’r Twynau Pant - proposed Prohibition of Waiting Monday to Saturday 7am 

to 7pm and Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time Traffic Regulation Order. 
 
4.6 Stagecoach have requested the introduction of parking restrictions on the corners of 

Tai’r Twynau, Pant due to indiscriminate parking affecting bus service number 35 
which is not operating. The request for restrictions is to improve accessibility and 
help provide a bus service to residents in this area. The bus service would allow 
accessibility for older people, those with disabilities and provide a public transport 
link. In addition to this, accessibility would also be improved for all motorists 
travelling through Tai’r Twynau as they would be able to negotiate the corners more 
easily. 

 
4.7 The introduction of parking restrictions would remove on-street parking outside some 

properties (estimated 8 vehicles). In view of this, it is proposed that some of the 
restrictions apply 7am-7pm Monday to Saturday only (whilst buses are operating). In 
addition to this, it is also proposed for Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time restrictions 
to apply. There is capacity in the area to accommodate the displacement of vehicles. 
Parking restrictions will improve accessibility on the corners especially for larger 
vehicles and it is recommended they are introduced for this reason. A drawing 
showing the proposal is attached at Appendix A for information and a schedule 
detailed in Appendix B. 

 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are administrative costs relating to the publishing of Traffic Regulation Order 

notices and £5,000 is to be met from the Traffic Management budget. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 Positive 

Impacts 
Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles - How 

have you considered the five ways of 

working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including Welsh 

Language) 

 
3 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
7 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
6 of 6 

 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

1 of 1 0 of 1 
 

0 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the proposal Yes No 

 
1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 

Ecosystems 
Maintained Enhanced Reduced 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
1 of 1 

 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

 

 The Well-being objectives - the proposals will make access and 
vision improvement along with traffic management and road safty and 
provide better health and well-being to children and young people. 

 Improvements will assist in developing the environment and safer 
communities, supporting people. 

 The proposals will help protect, enhance and promote the 
environment and general area. The proposals will allow better traffic 
management and road safety enhancing the environment. 

 Also the improvement to access and road safety will help people enjoy 

Page 62



good physical health, promote healthy behaviours and increased 
levels of physical activity. The improvements will support people living 
independently where they feel safe and enjoy good physical and 
mental health. 

 The Sustainable Development Principles - the proposals will 
provide better access and traffic management and also provide long 
term benefits and deliver the Council’s Well-Being objectives. The 
proposals will assist road safety. 

 The Local Authority will give public notice of the proposals. 

 The Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language - the 
proposals have been developed to assist traffic management and 
road safety and provide a positive impact. The improvements will 
provide better health and well-being to children, young people and 
older people. The proposals will incorporate the Welsh language in 
signage and Public Notices. 

 Consultation and Engagement – public notice wil be given of the 

proposals. 

      Data And Evidence – site visits carried out. 

The Socio-economic Disadvantage (Strategic Decisions) is not applicable. 
Biodiversity and resilience of Ecosystems – neutral impact. 
 

The main negative 
impacts are: 

No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, 
the Sustainable Development Principles, Protected Characteristics and Welsh 
Language. 
 
There is neutral impact for the proposal at Tai’r Twynau. At Tai’r Twynau 
there is capacity in the area to accommodate the displacement of vehicles.  
 

 
 
 
JUDITH JONES  
DIRECTOR OF NEIGHBOURHOOD 
SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR  

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Proposed 24 hour school keep clear roadmarking 

 

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



54
60

10
1

55

11

56

FW

CR

FB

Existing Prohibition of Waiting at Any Time to remain

Proposed Prohibition of Waiting at Any Time

BADEN TERRACE

DARREN VIEW

Teitl y Llun/ Dwg Title

Prosiect/ Project

Cleient/ Client
Manylion Adolygiad/Revision Details Gan/By Dyddiad/Date

Rhif y Llun/ Dwg No. Adolygiad/ Revision

Graddfa/ Scale @ A3 Dyddiad/ Date

Paratowyd gan/
Prepared by:

Gwiriwyd gan/
Checked by:

Cymeradwywyd gan/
Approved by:

Rhif y Prosiect/ Project No.

Adolygiad/
Revision

Pr
int

 D
ate

: 11
/08

/20
22

 14
:08

:41

\\mtcbcfs2\Highways\Steve B\Troedyrhiw SKC.dwg

SEILWAITH STRATEGOL MERTHYR
TUDFUL / STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE
MERTHYR TYDFIL
Y Ganolfan Ddinesig/ Civic Centre
Stryd y Castell/ Castle Street.
Merthyr Tudful/ Merthyr Tydfil.
CF47 8AN.
Ffôn/Tel: 01443 425001

Proposed Traffic Order 1:250

S Beaumont

August '22

P00Dickie Bird Lane/ Baden Terrace
Penyard

Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council

© Hawlfraint y Goron [a hawliau'r gronfa ddata] 2019 OS LA100023458.  Mae
hawl gyda chi i ddefnyddio'r data yma dim ond at ddibenion ymateb i'r

sefydliad sy'n rhoi'r data i chi, neu at ddibenion cysylltu ag ef. Does dim hawl
gyda chi i gopïo neu is-drwyddedu'r data yma ar ran trydydd partïon, neu'i

ddosbarthu neu'i werthu iddyn nhw.

© Crown copyright [and database rights] 2019 OS LA100023458. You are
permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with,

the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to
copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 
 
 
SCHEDULE 1  
PROHIBITION OF WAITING AT ANY TIME 
 
 
1.  Dickie Bird Lane, Penyard 
 

Both sides from its junction with Baden Terrace for a distance of 10 metres in an 
easterly direction. 
 

2. Penyard Access Road, Penyard 
 

The eastern side from its junction with Dickie Bird Lane for a distance of 10 
metres in a northerly direction. 

 
3. Bridge Street, Troedyrhiw 
 

(i)  The northern side from its junction with Glantaff Road in an easterly direction for  
      a  distance of 185 metres. 
 
(ii)  The northern side from the west side of No. 60 in an easterly direction to a point  
      16.5 metres east of No. 61. 
 

4. Tai’r Twynau Pant 
 

(i) Both sides of Tai’r Twynau Pant from its junction with Gwladys Street to its    
         junction opposite No.s 19 and 21 Tai’r Twynau. 
 

(ii) Both sides of Tai’r Twynau from the junction at No.s 19 and 21 Tai’r Twynau in a  
          westerly direction to the common boundary of No.s 17/19. 
 
 
 
SCHEDULE 2 
PROHIBITION OF WAITING MONDAY TO SATURDAY 7.00am to 7.00pm 

 
 Tai’r Twynau Pant 
 

(i) The south east side of Tai’r Twynau from its junction with the Rear Access to  
     Gwladys and Edward Street, in a northerly direction to a point opposite the  
     common boundary of No.s 11/13. 
 
(ii) The northern side of Tai’r Twynau between the common boundary of   
      No.s 3/5 and 11/13. 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 
 

SCHEDULE 3 
PROHIBITION OF WAITING MONDAY TO FRIDAY 7.30am to 8.30am and 2.30pm to 
3.30pm. 

 
Bridge Street Troedyrhiw 
 
The northern side from a point 210 metres east of its junction with Glantaff Road in 
an easterly direction to the west side of No. 60. 
 

 
SCHEDULE 4 
PROHIBITION OF STOPPING AT ANY TIME-CLEARWAYS 
 
1. Bridge Street Troedyrhiw 

 
The northern side from a point 185 metres east of its junction with Glantaff Road for 
a distance of 25 metres in an easterly direction. 

 
 
SCHEDULE 5 
VARIATION OF EXISTING ORDERS 

 
1. Vary the provisions of the “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (Various Roads,  

Troedyrhiw, Merthyr Tydfil) (Prohibition of Waiting at any time) (Restriction of 
Waiting) (Revocation) Order 2008” by the deletion of Schedule 1 item ii and 
Schedule 2 item ii. 

 
2. Vary the provisions of the “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Various Roads, 

Merthyr Tydfil (Prohibition of Waiting At Any Time) (Prohibition of Stopping At Any 
Time-Clearways) (Variation) Order 2013” by the deletion of Schedule 1 item 1). 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 
 
  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 72



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

Date Written 29th July 2022 

Report Author Joanna Lewis 
Anthony Lewis 

Service Area Learning Department 

Exempt/Non-Exempt Non-Exempt 

Committee Date 7th September 2022 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

SCHOOL BALANCES 2021-2023 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update with respect to school balances at 
the financial year end 2021/22 and the financial risk and sustainability of school 
budgets following the setting of school budgets and indicative Medium Term 
Financial Plans (MTFPs) 2022/25. 

 
1.2 School balances at 31st March 2022 were £6.3 million (actual) and £3.6 million 

(adjusted) which is 8.6% of formula funding.  Adjusted figures take account of almost 
£2.7 million grant income from Welsh Government (WG) which was received too late 
in the financial year to spend by 31st March 2022.   

 
1.3 School balances are projected to reduce over the next three years to a more 

reasonable level overall with up to five schools at risk of requiring a deficit budget 
over this period and categorised as AMBER.  

 
1.4 There is currently one RED risk school already delivering approved Planned 

Licensed Deficit (PLD) proposals to recover budget deficits during the period of their 
MTFP. 

 
1.5 Two schools (St Aloysius and St Illtyd’s) successfully delivered deficit recovery plans 

and delivered surplus budgets in 2021/22, being removed from RED risk category 
before the closure of the schools on 31st August 2022. 

 
1.6 Next steps have been identified to continue to monitor, challenge, and support 

schools with regards to their financial sustainability, with a particular focus on 
schools categorised RED and AMBER.   

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 The financial categorisation of schools, as shown in Appendix 1, be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In response to the low level of school balances at 31st March 2014 and 31st March 

2015, circa £358k and £214k respectively, and the high number of schools ending 
those financial years in deficit (ten and then nine), the Schools’ Financial Monitoring, 
Scrutiny and Intervention Policy was implemented to risk assess the financial 
sustainability of schools and to target appropriate local authority challenge and 
support. 

 
3.2 At the same time the Direction of Schools’ Excess Balances and Clawback Policy 

was implemented.  This policy allows the local authority to direct the use of and, if 
necessary, clawback balances above stipulated thresholds for Primary/Secondary 
and Special schools.  

 
3.3 In accordance with the Schools Funding Regulations (Wales) 2010 any balances 

clawed back by the local authority must be spent on pupils in year as part of the local 
authority’s overall spend on schools. 

 
3.4 These policies were revised in July 2019, implementing new excess balance 

thresholds that reflect the relative size of schools alongside the monetary value of 
the regulatory thresholds.  The current excess balance thresholds are: 

 Primary – greater of £50k or 5% 

 Secondary/Special – greater of £100k or 4% 
 
3.5 The local authority has a benchmark target for aggregate schools’ balances held at 

the financial year end to be 3% of formula funding and also recommends that 
individual schools hold balances within the following ranges: 

 Primary – between 2% and 4 %, and within the excess balance limits 

 Secondary/Special – between 2.5% and 3.5%, and within the excess balance 
limits  

 

3.6 Good resource management in schools is the result of effective leadership and 
governance and Estyn describe ‘Good’ resource management in the following terms: 

 Staffing and financial resources are managed and deployed effectively to support 
learning improvement. 

 The impact of resources on teaching and learning is kept under review and 
future needs are planned for. 

 The school’s spending decisions relate well to priorities for improvement and the 
benefit of the pupils. 

 The Pupil Deprivation Grant is well spent. 

 The use of shared resources through efficient partnership work or federation 
provides good value for money because it contributes to improved and generally 
good outcomes for pupils in aspects which the school alone could not provide. 

Page 74



3.7 The key measures of success that the local authority uses to judge ‘Good’ resource 
management in schools are: 

 no schools with an unplanned financial deficit; 

 all schools with a licensed deficit deliver against their recovery plan and balance 
their budget in line with their MTFP; 

 all schools with a surplus balance in excess of regulatory thresholds will 
successfully deliver their excess balances spending plan; and 

 no school will hold excess balances for three consecutive years requiring local 
authority clawback. 

 

4.0 SCHOOLS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2021/22 

 
4.1 The local authority’s schools’ balances held in reserve as at 31st March 2022 were 

£6,339,355.  However, between January and March 2022 WG paid various grants 
into schools’ budgets circa £2.7million.  Adjusting for this late and unexpected 
income, the schools’ balances total £3,646,167 (8.6%) of formula funding compared 
to £2,366,155 (5.7%) the previous year.   
 

4.2 The late grants received included WG Repairs and Maintenance Grant (£863k), 
RRR’s (£699k), ALN (£150k), additional Foundation Phase (£207k), Curriculum 
Reform (£112k), CC Grant (FLO) (£122k), Exam Support (£137k) and others.  This 
additional income needs to be provided earlier in the financial year if schools are to 
plan for it to be spent effectively during the year.  

   
4.3 Due to the second year of additional late grant monies being provided by WG there 

are an increasing number of schools with excess balances being held over a longer 
period.  

 
4.4 In recognition of this additional grant money requiring further time to plan for 

appropriate spend, it is proposed to categorise schools as YELLOW if excess 
balances are held for two years, and only progressing to AMBER risk if excess 
balances are held for three years or more, with clawback only being considered after 
four years of excess. 
 

4.5 Seventeen schools had adjusted year end balances higher than the excess balance 
thresholds.  Further details are provided in Table 1 below. 
 

Table 1: Schools above Excess Balances Thresholds @ 31st March 2022 
(Primary Greater of £50k / 5%, Secondary/Special Greater of £100k / 4%)  

 
School 2020/2022 Excess Year 

 

 
Adjusted Balance 

£000s 
% Reserve Balance 

£000s 
  

Goetre 316 14.5% 207 1 

Gwaunfarren 67 6.3% 14 1 

Pantysgallog 126 10.4% 65 1 

St Mary's 68 8.3% 19 1 

Abercanaid Primary 72 9.3% 22 1 

Coed Y Dderwen Primary 85 7.6% 29 1 

Page 75



 
Adjusted Balance 

£000s 
% Reserve Balance 

£000s 
  

Bishop Hedley 514 17.9% 399 1 

Twynyrodyn 183 14.0% 118 2 

Ysgol Santes Tudful 174 10.7% 93 2 

Afon Taf 411 11.6% 268 2 

Pen Y Dre 350 8.9% 192 2 

Caedraw Primary 177 15.2% 119 3 

Dowlais Primary 74 9.1% 24 3 

Edwardsville Primary 153 9.7% 74 3 

Troedyrhiw Primary 54 5.7% 4 3 

Greenfield  308 9.1% 172 3 

Gellifaelog Primary 80 8.1% 30 4 

     

 
4.6 All schools with excess balances have provided excess balance plans to the local 

authority detailing the reasons for the balances being held and the planned use of 
those balances in the current financial year 2022/23.  

 
4.7 Gellifaelog is the only school currently in its fourth year of excess and at risk of 

clawback.  The school has a spending plan in place in order to reduce their balance 
by the end of 2022/23. 

 

4.8 St Aloysius and St Illtyd’s RC Primary schools both closed the financial year 2021/22 
with surplus balances and have successfully delivered on their Planned Licensed 
Deficit (PLD) recovery plans prior to the schools closing on 31st August 2022. 

 

4.9 Blessed Carlo Acutis Catholic School opens on 1st September 2022, with each of the 
current Catholic schools projected to close on 31st August 2022 with positive surplus 
balances which will be transferred to the new school from 1st September 2022. 

 
4.10 Cyfarthfa High School are currently working towards their PLD proposals and are 

expected to require savings against their annual budget during 2025/26 in order to 
balance their budget over the medium term.  

 
4.11 Following the closure of the 2021/22 accounts in May 2022, all schools set their 

2022/23 budgets and approved indicative MTFPs by 31st May 2022. 
 
4.12 Appendix 1 details schools’ 2022/23 budgets and indicative three-year MTFPs 

2022/25 alongside their 2021/22 year-end balances. 
 
4.13 The aggregate level of school balances budgeted in 2022/23 is £3,504k which shows 

an estimated £2,835k reduction in balances year on year.  
 

4.14 The level of balances is currently projected to further reduce to £2,258k in 2023/24 
and £1,540k in 2024/25, which is around 3.3% of total formula funding a reasonable 
level overall.  These balances exclude projections for Blessed Carlo Acutis Catholic 
School as the school’s MTFP will be set during the Autumn Term. 

Page 76



4.15 Following consideration of schools’ budgets and MTFPs each school has been 
categorised for financial risk and sustainability.  See Table 2 below. 
 
Table 2: Financial Risk Categorisation 2021/22 and 2022/23  
 

Financial Risk Category Judgement No. of Schools  

2021/22 
 

2022/23 
 

% 

RED HIGH RISK 3 1 4% 

AMBER MEDIUM TO HIGH 12 7 31% 

YELLOW LOW TO MEDIUM 8 9 39% 

GREEN LOW 4 6 26% 

TOTAL 27 23** 100% 

** excludes categorization for Blessed Carlo Acutis Catholic School as this will be 
considered in the Autumn Term following the setting of the school’s MTFP. 

 
The number of schools at high risk (RED) has decreased from three to one. 

Cyfarthfa High school are currently delivering a PLD and are projected to balance 

their budget over the MTFP provided they deliver their deficit recovery plan. 

4.16 Schools categorised at medium to high risk (AMBER) have decreased from twelve in 
2021/22 to seven in 2022/23, with five of these schools at risk of a deficit budget 
over the medium term and further consideration of budget saving proposals are 
required during the current financial year. 

 
4.17 Overall year on year, one school has changed into a higher category of risk going 

from Green to Yellow, seven have moved into a lower category of risk, whilst fifteen 
schools risk category has remained the same. The overall profile of risk has 
improved year on year. 
 

5.0 NEXT STEPS 
 
5.1 The local authority will monitor schools’ finances in accordance with the relevant 

financial monitoring policies and schools categorised RED and AMBER will be 
subject to additional scrutiny, challenge and support as required. 
 

5.2 These schools will attend financial monitoring meetings with the local authority as 
required and further work will be undertaken with all schools that are projecting a 
deficit budget position in either 2023/24 or 2024/25. 
 

5.3 Schools will continue financial monitoring during the Autumn and Spring Terms and 
will set updated budgets and MTFPs where appropriate.  

 
6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 

 

Page 77



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives  
0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles - 

How have you considered the five 

ways of working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 

Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 
 

 
0 of 10 
 

 
10 of 10 
 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage  
0 of 6 
 

 
0 of 6 
 

 
6 of 6 
 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 
 
1 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 

proposal 

Yes No 

 
0 of 1 
 

 
1 of 1 
 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 

Ecosystems 
Maintained Enhanced Reduced 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
0 of 1 
 

 
0 of 1 
 

 
0 of 1 
 

 
1 of 1 
 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

 
N/A 
 

The main negative 
impacts are: 

N/A 
 
 

 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 
  

COUNCILLOR MICHELLE JONES 
CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION 

 

Page 78



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Schools Balances 2020-
2022 Cabinet Report 
 

8th September 2021 Intranet 

Schools Financial 
Monitoring, Scrutiny & 
Intervention Policy (v2.0) 

July 2019 Learning Department 

Direction of Schools 
Excess Balances & 
Clawback Policy (v2.0) 

July 2019 Learning Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 79



Appendix 1 
 

 Outturn  Adjusted Outturn  % of FA  MTFP  % of FA 
Assessment of 

Risk (Provisional)
 MTFP  % of FA  MTFP  % of FA 

ABERCANAID COMMUNITY 131,572£                  72,269£                     9.3% 65,056£                              8.4% 56,424£                             6.8% 79,437£                             9.3%

BEDLINOG COMMUNITY PRIMARY 68,398£                     28,302£                     5.6% 33,036£                              6.5% 17,993£                             3.4% 13,753£                             2.5%

CAEDRAW PRIMARY 250,064£                  177,021£                  15.2% 127,204£                           10.2% 46,460£                             3.7% 13,231-£                             -1.0%

CYFARTHFA PARK PRIMARY 165,046£                  49,544£                     3.2% 168,299£                           9.2% 89,355£                             5.0% 25,099£                             1.4%

DOWLAIS PRIMARY 162,112£                  74,248£                     9.1% 62,383£                              6.8% 14,985£                             1.6% 522£                                   0.1%

EDWARDSVILLE PRIMARY 251,348£                  152,973£                  9.7% 76,203£                              4.6% 2,140£                                0.1% 6,015-£                                -0.3%

YSGOL GYNRADD COED Y DDERWEN 161,508£                  84,718£                     7.6% 31,723£                              2.9% 34,506£                             2.9% 32,295£                             2.6%

GELLIFAELOG PRIMARY 152,585£                  80,062£                     8.1% 53,232£                              4.8% 21,187£                             1.9% 18,472£                             1.6%

GOETRE PRIMARY 447,756£                  316,173£                  14.5% 212,617£                           10.4% 119,565£                           5.6% 115,606£                           5.4%

GWAUNFARREN PRIMARY 145,800£                  66,950£                     6.3% 86,588£                              7.9% 30,698£                             2.7% 14,726£                             1.2%

HEOLGERRIG PRIMARY 118,765£                  48,621£                     5.2% 49,190£                              5.2% 63,794£                             6.4% 95,636£                             9.2%

PANTYSGALLOG PRIMARY 215,101£                  126,441£                  10.4% 175,864£                           14.3% 136,591£                           11.0% 153,920£                           11.7%

ST ALOYSIUS R.C. PRIMARY 89,772£                     35,732£                     5.6% 37,515£                              5.3% 0.0% 0.0%

ST ILLTYD'S R.C. PRIMARY 57,579£                     8,099£                       1.4% 29,398£                              4.3% 0.0% 0.0%

ST MARY'S R.C. PRIMARY 131,979£                  68,778£                     8.3% 80,844£                              8.9% 0.0% 0.0%

TRELEWIS PRIMARY 86,736£                     14,977£                     1.5% 40,512£                              4.4% 44,675£                             4.5% 81,152£                             7.9%

TROEDYRHIW PRIMARY 121,126£                  53,927£                     5.7% 45,254£                              4.6% 9,302£                                0.9% 25,788-£                             -2.5%

TWYNYRODYN COMMUNITY 276,022£                  182,878£                  14.0% 144,056£                           10.4% 21,584£                             1.6% 105,596-£                           -7.7%

YNYSOWEN COMMUNITY 128,099£                  42,358£                     3.2% 101,575£                           7.3% 61,790£                             4.3% 46,658£                             3.2%

YSGOL RHYD Y GRUG 174,880£                  42,534£                     3.7% 127,381£                           10.6% 87,238£                             7.0% 46,860£                             3.6%

YSGOL SANTES TUDFUL 347,268£                  174,180£                  10.7% 241,338£                           13.9% 126,328£                           7.1% 41,152£                             2.3%

YSGOL Y GRAIG PRIMARY 63,409£                     946-£                           -0.1% 61,327£                              6.0% 54,048£                             5.1% 34,225£                             3.1%

TOTALS 3,746,924£               1,899,836£               7.9% 2,050,597£                        8.1% 1,038,662£                       4.0% 648,884£                           2.4%

AFON TAF HIGH 592,856£                  410,612£                  11.6% 535,201£                           13.9% 521,831£                           13.1% 464,049£                           11.4%

BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH 659,974£                  513,588£                  17.9% 150,714£                           5.0% 0.0% 0.0%

CYFARTHFA HIGH 404,559£                  164,479£                  3.6% 216,586£                           5.0% 306,180£                           7.2% 154,719£                           3.9%

PEN-Y-DRE HIGH 553,824£                  349,703£                  8.9% 420,995£                           9.4% 415,205£                           8.6% 413,548£                           8.2%

TOTALS 2,211,213£               1,438,382£               9.7% 1,323,495£                        8.5% 1,243,216£                       7.6% 1,032,316£                       6.3%

GREENFIELD SPECIAL 381,218£                  307,949£                  9.1% 129,684£                           3.7% 23,742-£                             -0.6% 140,653-£                           -3.7%

TOTALS 381,218£                  307,949£                  9.1% 129,684£                           3.7% 23,742-£                             -0.6% 140,653-£                           -3.7%

GRAND TOTALS 6,339,355£               3,646,167£               8.6% 3,503,777£                        7.9% 2,258,136£                       4.9% 1,540,547£                       3.3%

2023/2024 MTFP2021/2022 MTFP 2022/2023 MTFP 2024/2025 MTFP

 

P
age 80



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Regional 1,000 Beds & Step Down Bed Proposal  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report outlines the current pressures experienced by social care and health 

services within the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Region. 
 
1.2 The report highlights the expectations placed by Welsh Government on the Cwm Taf 

Morgannwg Region to create the additional capacity of 188 beds as a ration of the 
overall expectation that an additional 1,000 beds be made available across Wales. 

 
1.3  The outline of the proposals to meet this requirement across the region. 
 
1.4 The costs and associated benefits and risks for MTCBC of the Merthyr specific     

elements of the potential development of Step-Down beds. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The plans as set out in the report for Step-Down beds be approved and the 

associated financial risks be noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Following the pandemic members will be aware of the continued pressures on health 

services across Wales.  These pressures are presenting as people waiting longer for 
planned care and increased demand for emergency care services. 

 
 

Date Written August 2022 

Report Author Angela Edevane  

Service Area Adult Social Care 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 7th September 2022 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



 
3.2 Due to the additional demands on health services, there have been increasing 

pressures on social care especially community domiciliary care services as 
significant numbers of staff have left employment and recruitment into these posts 
has been extremely difficult.  Social Care Wales has been undertaking a recruitment 
campaign across Wales to attract people into the sector however this is not yet 
translating into filling the current vacancies across the sector.  

 
3.3 The pressures within the domiciliary care sector at this time are significant and at the 

time of writing this report the numbers of people waiting for packages of care in the 
community has risen from 2 or 3 to a current waiting list of 30 (as of 26th August 
2022). This is the highest number that we have ever experienced over a prolonged 
period. 

 
3.4 Traditionally the request for health & social care services increases during the winter 

period, however the current demand is exceeding what we would normally 
experience during the winter months. 

 
3.5 Understandably Welsh Government is concerned that should these demands 

continue at this pace the impact on services during the winter period will be 
unsustainable. 

 
3.6 In response to this concern a ministerial group has been established to review what 

actions can be taken to relieve some of the pressures before we approach the winter 
months. This group is being supported by the data unit who are working with the 
regions to identify local plans. 

 
3.7 One of the key actions is to increase the equivalent of a 1,000 beds or additional 

community capacity across Wales. This number is based on the number of delayed 
discharges reported. This has been aggregated to each region and the anticipated 
extra capacity required for the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Region is 188. 

 
3.8 In addition to this, as part of the unscheduled care agenda significant work is being 

taken forward through the “6 Goals” program set out below: 

 

 

Page 82



 

 
 
3.9 Work streams have been established to take forward the 6 Goals with varied 

implementation timescales though not all will be implemented in time to achieve 
significant reduction in demand in time for the anticipated winter pressure. 

 

4.0 PROPOSED REGIONAL ACTIONS  
 
4.1 Regional meetings have taken place around the 6 Goals and there are now working 

groups established to take the work forward against each of the goals. In addition, 
there are dedicated leads at a national level to drive implementation across Wales. 

 
4.2 Work is also taking place on a regional level in establishing a plan to meet the 

additional community capacity that is equivalent to the extra 188 beds in the region. 
It was anticipated that additional revenue funding would be available to support 
these developments however we have now been advised that no funding will be 
available and any plans will need to be resourced from existing core funding. 

 
4.3 The regional proposals discussed so far include: 
 

 The development of step-down beds from hospital for those who require 
additional support to enable them to return home. These in the main involve the 
reconfiguration of vacant beds in Local Authority homes in each of the 3 Local 
Authorities. 

 The provision of additional beds on the health board sites and additional capacity 
for early stroke rehabilitation beds. 

 The block purchase of beds in an independent care home. 
 
4.4 Further detail will be included in a regional plan, which is currently being drawn up by 

Health colleagues following a multi-agency meeting in the last two weeks.  Once 
available this can be shared with Cabinet members.  

 
 
 

Page 83



4.5  There are 2 potential options for the provision of step-down beds in Merthyr: 
 

 The re-commissioning of the beds located in a separate wing at Ty Gurnos, 
which can accommodate 8 people.  

 The block booking of beds within an independent care home within the Merthyr 
area. 

 
4.6 A provisional business plan was developed earlier in the year around utilisation of 

the vacant beds at Ty Gurnos to ensure that we had a costed option in anticipation 
that potential funding would be available via the Regional Integrated Care Fund. This 
business case did not progress as the revenue funding was not available.  

 
4.7 As the facility already exists with associated running costs the additional costs to 

commission the use of the beds as step down beds would be the staffing costs to 
provide the care element and the funding required is outlined in the financial section. 

 
4.8 Staffing levels are set at 2 staff per shift and 1 staff overnight to take into account the 

level of support individuals require. As this would be a separate area of the home 
these are the minimum safe staffing levels required regardless of whether the 
occupancy was lower than 8. 

 
4.9 Potentially further work may be undertaken to review whether the 8 beds could be 

utilised to accommodate individuals from both Merthyr and RCT however as RCT is 
already developing step down beds in one of their care homes this may not 
progress. 

 
4.10 Whilst discussions have taken place with Care Inspectorate Wales around the 

potential to utilise the beds further detailed discussions would need to take place to 
finalise the registration arrangements. 

 

5.0 RISKS & BENEFITS 
 
5.1 The benefits of providing a step-down facility would be: 
 

 That people who are medically well enough are not waiting in a hospital bed 
waiting to move to the next stage of their care. 

 That the risk of hospital acquired infections is minimised. 

 That capacity within the hospital will be released to support people who require 
acute medical support.  

 That people receive further rehabilitation in a safe environment that will enable 
them to return home rather than be admitted to a care home. 

 
5.2 The risks of providing the step-down facility would be: 
 

 Additional costs to the Local Authority should additional revenue funding not 
become available. 

 People who are supported in the step-down facility are unable to move to the 
next stage of their care & support and there is no throughput. 

 

Page 84



 

 There would be insufficient people who were suitable to be supported in this 
facility. 

 Inability to recruit staff if option of Ty Gurnos is progressed. 

 Inability to block book the beds from the care home sector. 
 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 As noted above we have been advised that there is no additional funding available to 

support these options and the costs identified below would need to be met through 
existing Local Authority budgets at risk if they are to progress.  

 
6.2 Elements of the in-house service at Ty Gurnos such as the running costs would be 

met through the existing budget and the costs outlined below would be additional 
costs in respect of staff so does not show the full costs of the scheme. 

 
6.3 The costs associated with Ty Gurnos are based on minimum staffing hours and an 

assumption that occupational therapy costs will be met through health. 
 
In House Service Delivery Ty Gurnos full year costs: 
 

Staffing £379k 2 staff by day and 1 by night 

Running Costs £0k Initially integrated within current running cost of In-House 
provision 

Ancillary Client 
Costs 

£25k This would include food and personal equipment costs 

Total £404k  

 

Commissioning within Independent Sector - full year costs: 
 

2 Beds £105k Including FNC rates (£7.48pw LA and £184.32pw 
Health) 

3 Beds £157.5k Including FNC rates (£7.48pw LA and £184.32pw 
Health) 

4 Beds £210k Including FNC rates (£7.48pw LA and £184.32pw 
Health) 

   

Reablement Worker £70k 2 x 30hr posts 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral / 
Not 

Applicable  
1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives 

 
1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles 
- How have you considered the five 
ways of working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

3 of 5 0 of 5 2 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 

2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage 
 

3 of 6 0 of 6 3 of 6 

5. Consultation and Engagement Undertaken 
Due to be 

Undertaken 
Not Required 

 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

Yes No 

 
 

0 of 1 1 of 1 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral / 

N/A 

 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary 
 

The main positive 
impacts are: 
 

The main positives are around promoting and maintaining 
independence of older people and increased employment 
opportunities. 

The main 
negative impacts 
are:  

No specific negative impacts have been identified. 

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR JULIA JENKINS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES                 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Transforming Towns Programme for Merthyr 
Tydfil:  Development Fund Application Former 
Synagogue  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Placemaking Plan was endorsed by Full Council at the Council Committee 

Meeting on 12th September 2020. 
 
1.2  In January 2020, Deputy Minister for Housing and Local Government, Hannah 

Blythyn MS, announced the Transforming Towns package ‘including measures to 
increase footfall by making sure the public sector locate services in Town Centre 
locations, tackle empty buildings and land to help bring them back into use, and 
greening our Town Centres’. 

 
1.3 A series of applications will be submitted as and when projects are developed in line 

with the aims and objectives of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
1.4  The development funding application into Welsh Government for the Merthyr Tydfil 

Transforming Towns Programme is for the re-development of the former Synagogue 
in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. 

 
1.5  Total funding of £561,241 has been secured by The Foundation for Jewish Heritage. 
  
 
 
 
 

Date Written 5th August 2022  

Report Author Zoe Thomas / Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt  

Committee Date 7th September 2022  

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Merthyr Tydfil Strategic Valley Hub: Placemaking Plan 2019 - 2035 was 

commissioned by Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Welsh Government and Transport for Wales.  
It provides a plan for Merthyr Tydfil that is based on a shared ambition for the town 
and its role within the Capital City Region. 

 
2.2  The Placemaking Plan was endorsed by Full Council at the Council Committee 

Meeting on 12th September 2020.  
 
2.3  In January 2020, Deputy Minister for Housing and Local Government, Hannah 

Blythyn MS, announced the Transforming Towns package ‘including measures to 
increase footfall by making sure the public sector locate services in Town Centre 
locations, tackle empty buildings and land to help bring them back into use, and 
greening our Town Centres’. 

 
2.4  It was announced ‘to help breathe new life into Town Centres, the Welsh 

Government is unveiling a new ‘Town Centre First’ approach.  To support this new 
approach, the Welsh Government announced a £90 million investment to transform 
Wales’ Town Centres’.   

 
2.5  The Transforming Towns package has provided Merthyr Tydfil CBC with the 

opportunity to secure funding for the delivery of projects linked to the Placemaking 
Plan.   

 
2.6  A series of applications will be submitted as and when projects are developed in line 

with the aims and objectives of the Placemaking Plan.   
 

3.0 DEVELOPMENT FUNDING 
 
3.1 The development funding application into Welsh Government for the Merthyr Tydfil 

Transforming Towns Programme is for the re-development of the former Synagogue 
in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre.  

 
3.2  The aim of this project is to create a bilingual Welsh Jewish Heritage Centre / 

Canolfan Treftadaeth Iddewig Cymru (WJHC) within the historic former Grade II 
Listed synagogue of Merthyr Tydfil.  The WJHC will ensure the rescue, preservation 
and sustainable re-use of a landmark derelict grade II listed building; the most 
important Jewish site in Wales representing shared Jewish and Welsh heritage.   

 
3.3  It is envisaged that the Centre will provide a unique national cultural and educational 

facility, delivering a programme and providing expertise on (a) the synagogue, 
Judaism and Jewish culture, and Welsh Jewish history (b) Holocaust education and 
(c) tolerance education.  The future proposed capital works will cover repair and 
conservation, installing disabled access and public services, the fitting out of the 
interior and the creation of a garden. 

 
 
 

Page 90



3.4  The Foundation for Jewish Heritage has submitted a Stage 1 application to NLHF for 
development funding for the Synagogue re-development as well as Transforming 
Towns.  It is proposed that this development period will take approx. two years and 
will ultimately result in a Stage 2 application to NLHF and an application into Welsh 
Government Transforming Towns Programme for the capital re-development of the 
building.    

 
3.5  Total funding of £561,241 has been secured by The Foundation for Jewish Heritage.  

This has been secured as follows: 
 
 £398,201 - National Lottery Heritage Fund 
 £107,800 - Welsh Government Transforming Towns Development Funding  
 £25,000 - Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
 £30,240 - In-kind     
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The financial implications for the local authority are to provide match funding of 

£25,000.  This has been secured through the Merthyr Tydfil Capital Programme for 
2022/23.  

 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

5.1 
 

Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives 
 

 3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles 
- How have you considered the five 
ways of working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 

 

 
0 of 10 

 

 
8 of 10 

 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage  
0 of 6 

 

 
0 of 6 

 

 
6 of 6 

 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
Undertaken 

Due to be 
Undertaken 

Not Required 

0 of 1 1 of 1 
 

0 of 1 
 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

Yes No 

 
 1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

Page 91



7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

 
1 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

 
0 of 1 

 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

The main positive impacts are that the re-development of the former 
Synagogue building will support Well-being Objectives and Sustainable 
Development Principles through targeting economic growth, the 
protection of key heritage assets and sustainable development.  The 
project will have a positive effect on the economy, socially and on 
heritage.    
 

The main negative 
impacts are: 
 

No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN  
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS  
      LEADER OF THE COUNCIL /                                                                                                                                                                             

CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING 
AND REGENERATION    

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 92



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Transforming Towns Programme for Merthyr 
Tydfil: Phase 5.  Re-development of Marsh House 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Placemaking Plan was endorsed by Full Council at the Council Committee 

Meeting on 12th September 2020. 
 
1.2  In January 2020, Deputy Minister for Housing and Local Government, Hannah 

Blythyn MS, announced the Transforming Towns package ‘including measures to 
increase footfall by making sure the public sector locate services in Town Centre 
locations, tackle empty buildings and land to help bring them back into use, and 
greening our Town Centres’. 

 
1.3 A series of applications will be submitted as and when projects are developed in line 

with the aims and objectives of the Placemaking Plan. 
 
1.4  The application into Welsh Government for the Merthyr Tydfil Transforming Towns 

Programme Phase 3 is for the re-development of Marsh House.  
 
1.5  The re-development of the building will provide a multi-purpose facility in the Town 

Centre.  
 
1.6  Upon completion, Housing Support Grant will be utilised to fund the ongoing revenue 

expenditure for the project, not only to deliver quality supported accommodation but 
also service the whole building and ensure multi-faceted functions are managed 
effectively operationally and staffed 24/7. 

 

Date Written 5th August 2022  

Report Author Zoe Thomas / Chris Long / 
Suzanne Lewis-Abbott 

Service Area Community Regeneration  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt  

Committee Date 7th September 2022  

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



1.7 The site has been purchased privately and the Council are in discussions with the 
owner on a lease on the property for a minimum 30-year period.  Once the capital 
works have been completed, the lease would be transferred to the partner RSL.  

 
1.8  Total funding of £1,231,146 has been secured from the Transforming Towns 

Programme towards a total project cost of £1,758,780.   
 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Merthyr Tydfil Strategic Valley Hub: Placemaking Plan 2019 - 2035 was 

commissioned by Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Welsh Government and Transport for Wales. 
It provides a plan for Merthyr Tydfil that is based on a shared ambition for the town 
and its role within the Capital City Region. 

 
2.2  The Placemaking Plan was endorsed by Full Council at the Council Committee 

Meeting on 12th September 2020.  
 
2.3  In January 2020, Deputy Minister for Housing and Local Government, Hannah 

Blythyn MS, announced the Transforming Towns package ‘including measures to 
increase footfall by making sure the public sector locate services in Town Centre 
locations, tackle empty buildings and land to help bring them back into use, and 
greening our Town Centres’. 

 
2.4  It was announced ‘to help breathe new life into Town Centres, the Welsh 

Government is unveiling a new ‘Town Centre First’ approach.  To support this new 
approach, the Welsh Government announced a £90 million investment to transform 
Wales’ Town Centres’.   

 
2.5  The Transforming Towns package has provided Merthyr Tydfil CBC with the 

opportunity to secure funding for the delivery of projects linked to the Placemaking 
Plan.   

 
2.6  A series of applications will be submitted as and when projects are developed in line 

with the aims and objectives of the Placemaking Plan.   
 

3.0 RE-DEVELOPMENT OF MARSH HOUSE  
 
3.1 The funding application into Welsh Government for the Merthyr Tydfil Transforming 

Towns Programme Phase 5, is for the re-development of Marsh House.  
 
3.2  The re-development of the building will provide a multi-purpose facility providing the 

following: 
 

 10 unit supported accommodation  

 22 units of temporary accommodation  

 A community hub / drop - in / one stop shop  
 
 

Page 94



3.3 Following initial needs assessment review and mapping of the support and 
accommodation MTCBC were utilising, and still require, it was clear that without 
additional supported accommodation, the Local Authority would find it increasingly 
difficult to meet the statutory responsibility in providing suitable accommodation to 
meet the growing need, along with the disproportionate number of people with 
housing related support needs. 

 
3.4 The Strategic Housing Team commissioned Capita Redstart to undertake a condition 

survey alongside some initial feasibility studies, to understand the potential the 
building had in meeting the corporate need.  Capita was also asked to produce 
outline design proposals to demonstrate the property’s ability to accommodate a 
specific number of people whilst providing adequate support spaces.  This ask was 
also in consideration of the upcoming loss of an existing 10 bed young person’s 
supported accommodation within the Town Centre, anticipated for December 2022. 

 
3.5  The development potential was scoped and the building could be easily zoned to 

accommodate a specific supported accommodation of 10 units at the back end of the 
building utilising the ground and first floors along with 22 units of self-contained, 
temporary supported accommodation for those with lower - medium level needs. 

 
3.6  Upon completion, Housing Support Grant will be utilised to fund the ongoing revenue 

expenditure for the project, not only to deliver quality supported accommodation but 
also service the whole building and ensure multi-faceted functions are managed 
effectively operationally and staffed 24/7. 

 
3.7  The site has been purchased privately and the Council are in discussions with the 

owner on a lease on the property for a minimum 30-year period.  Once the capital 
works have been completed, the lease would be transferred to the partner RSL, 
Merthyr Valleys Homes who have capacity and expertise to cover not only the 
ongoing housing management and partnership working with the commissioned 
support provider to deliver quality support and accommodation, but also have 
existing repair and maintenance contracts to ensure the building is kept in an 
excellent state of repair. 

 
3.8 Heads of Terms will be finalised pending receipt of valuation advice as to a suitable 

market rent.  It is anticipated that this rent will be in the region of £100,000 per 
annum.  The Deputy Chief Executive has delegated authority to authorise, and 
approve the terms of, any lease to be granted to the Council in consideration of the 
payment of a rent, including any rent in excess of £50,000 per annum payable but 
not exceeding £250,000 - in consultation with Member of the Cabinet for Housing 
and Regeneration. 

 
3.9 Planning permission for change of use was approved in July 2022.  
 
3.10  Total funding of £1,231,146 has been secured from the Transforming Towns 

Programme towards a total project cost of £1,758,780.   
 
 
 

Page 95



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The financial implications for the local authority are to provide match funding of 

£527,634.  This has been secured through the Merthyr Tydfil Capital Programme for 
22/23.  

 
5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

5.1 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives
  

 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles 
- How have you considered the five 
ways of working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage 
 

0 of 6 0 of 6 6 of 6 

5. Consultation and Engagement 
 
 
 

Undertaken 
Due to be 

Undertaken 
Not Required 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

 

Yes No 

 1 of 1 0 of 1 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

 
 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

The main positive impacts are that the re-development of Marsh House 
will support Well-being Objectives and Sustainable Development 
Principles through targeting economic growth and supporting the need 
for Housing in Merthyr Tydfil.  The project will have a positive effect on 
the economy, socially and on the local community.    

The main negative 
impacts are: 

No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN  
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

GERAINT THOMAS  
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL /  

CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING AND 
REGENERATION    

 
 

Page 96



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET – INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

NEETs Prevention and Performance 2022 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report outlines how the local authority has improved its performance with 

regards to Not in Education, Employment or Training NEET prevention agenda and 
how it continues to support those young people identified through the Early 
Identification Toolkit (EIT) as the highest risk of becoming NEET during the 2021-22 
academic year. 

 
1.2 The report identifies the key challenges going forward with regards to the impact of 

the pandemic, the challenges faced by young people and what this may mean to the 
performance of NEETS in 2022.  This includes a current position statement 
regarding the 2022 cohort. 

 
1.3 Significant concern exists regarding the future funding for NEET co-ordination and 

support programmes at pre and post 16, due to the ending of European funding.  It is 
essential that future funding is secured to continue the success seen since 2012 
across the transitionary period from pre 16 into early adulthood.  These approaches 
are being considered as part of a regional Shared Prosperity Fund proposal and UK 
Government has confirmed that pre 16 programmes are eligible for funding under 
the People and Skills theme. 

 

 
2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Since the introduction of the national Youth Engagement and Progression framework 

in 2013 the local authority has generally demonstrated a good performance in 
reducing the number of young people who become NEET when they leave School in 

Date Written 23rd June 2022 

Report Author Samantha Morgan / Chris Hole 

Service Area Community Wellbeing  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt  

Committee Date 7th September 2022 

Page 99

Agenda Item 10



Year 11.  However, in 2019 and 2020 there was an increase with the 2020 figure 
being 2.7%.  The reasons for this were discussed in previous papers. 

 
2.2 At post 16 the impact of the pandemic has not been as severe as initially anticipated 

and the number of young people becoming NEET demonstrates an improving 
picture. 
 

2.3 For example, data on Stats Wales shows that in December 2021 the employment 
rate for 16-24 year olds in Merthyr Tydfil was 56.8% compared to 50.8% for Wales, 
which is a significant improvement on the December 2020 figures of 49% and 50% 
respectively.  The number of 16-24 year olds claiming universal credit and searching 
for work has also shown an improving picture from 560 in April 2021 down to 374 in 
March 2022. 
 

2.4 Young people were consulted on the issues that affect them and youth employment 
and relevant support from a youth worker remain very important to them.  In 
response to this, the new draft Youth Support Services 2022-25 plan includes the 
aim of ‘reducing the risk of becoming or remaining NEET’.  Consultation on the draft 
plan has recently completed and it is due to be presented to Cabinet for ratification. 

 

3.0 OUTOMES OF THE CAREERS WALES DESTINATION SURVEY 2021 
 
3.1 There are two significant categories captured as part of the annual destination 

survey by Careers Wales and reported on (NEET and Unknowns).  Both figures are 
published separately and allow for benchmarking of performance across different 
local authorities.  However, to understand the true picture within each LA the figures 
should be combined as this gives the total % of young people not in provision. 

 
3.2 Within Merthyr Tydfil the combined NEET and ‘unknown’ destination figure of 2.1% 

(12 young people) is below the Wales average of 2.7% and ranks the local authority 
as 5th in Wales for its combined performance in 2021. 

 
3.3 For 2021, the published Welsh Government NEET figure in Merthyr Tydfil was 1.9%, 

equating to 11 young people.  This demonstrates improvements in performance 
when compared to the 2020 figure of 2.7% (14 young people).  Table 1 provides the 
trend in performance for Merthyr Tydfil from 2016 to 2021. 
 
Table 1  

NEET % - Year 11 Destination Trend Data Merthyr Tydfil 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

1.03% 
(6yp) 

1.3% (7yp) 1.1% (6yp) 2.1% 
(11yp) 

2.7% 
(14yp) 

1.9% 
(11yp) 

All Wales: 
2.0% 

All Wales: 
1.6% 

All Wales: 
1.6% 

All Wales: 
1.8% 

All Wales: 
1.7% 

All Wales: 
1.6% 

 
3.4 The Wales average for NEET has decreased from a peak in 2019 of 1.8% to 1.6%. 

However, the number of young people with an ‘unknown’ destination across Wales 
has increased from 0.5% in 2017 up to 1.1% across Wales in 2021. 

 

Page 100



3.5 Historically, Merthyr Tydfil has been one of a very small group of local authorities 
that is able to robustly monitor the destinations of all Year 11 School leavers.  In 
2021 there was one young person with an ‘unknown’ destination at the close of the 
destination survey on 31st October.  However, following the closure of the survey it 
was established that the young person was actually in full-time employment. 

 
3.6 It should be noted that young people not on School rolls across Wales are not 

included within the published destination survey.  Local tracking of this cohort of 
School leavers can identify that there were an additional seven young people who 
were Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) who became NEET.  This is 
significantly lower than the peak of 14 young people attending EOTAS provision who 
became NEET in 2019.  This shows a sustained improvement in performance in 
relation to this cohort of young people. 

 
3.7 When including these young people, the overall NEET figure for Merthyr Tydfil has 

reduced from 4.3% (25 young people) in 2019 to 3.0% in 2021 (18 young people). 
 

3.8 Table 2 below shows the education setting during Year 11 of the 18 NEET young 
people and shows that the majority (11) attended mainstream education.  This 
continues the trend from 2020 and shows how Schools and partners are working 
effectively to ensure successful transitions across the year group with good 
performance across each School.  
 
Table 2 

Education Setting Year 11  Number of Year 11 NEET Young 
People 

Afon Taf High School  3 

Bishop Hedley RC High School 4 

Cyfarthfa High School 2 

Greenfield School 0 

Penydre High School 2 

PRU 2 

Special Tuition 5 

TOTAL 18 

 
As of April 2022, six of the NEET group had entered education, employment or 
training; one young person was volunteering full time; three were preparing to join a 
post 16 employability programme.  The remainder have declined support, but this 
continues to be offered at regular intervals. 
 

3.9 Previous NEETS research has highlighted that moving young people into a positive 
destination at the end of formal Schooling is fundamental to reducing future periods 
and durations of future unemployment.  Therefore, sustained performance at pre 16 
and continued support during this transition to adulthood is essential.  Analysis of 
Careers Wales 5 Tier data which tracks the cohorts that left School in 2020 and 2021 
evidences that to the end of May 2022: 

 

 94.7% of young people remain in provision (1299) with 141 identified as being at 

risk of dropping out. 

Page 101



 1.0% (14) are actively seeking training/employment and a further 2.3% (31) are 
known to be NEET and offered support, with 2.0% (28) refusing to engage with 
any providers or support services. 

 

4.0 CHARACTERISTICS OF 2021 SCHOOL LEAVERS WHO BECAME 
NEET 
 

4.1 Analysis of the 18 young people who were NEET at the point of the Careers Wales 
destination survey on 31st October 2021 reveals that three young people had no 
identified significant barriers to entering education, employment or training and were 
categorised using vulnerability profiling as ‘green’. 
 

4.2 The 15 young people who became NEET were categorised as being at risk of NEET 
during Year 11 as follows: 
 

 14 were categorised ‘red’ 
 One was categorised ‘amber’  

 

4.3 Further analysis of this cohort of 15 young people reveals that most had multiple 
barriers preventing engagement in NEET.  Barriers included the following: 
 

 Ten had low School attendance. 
 Nine had emotional wellbeing and/or mental health issues. 

 One had low academic achievement. 

 One had a serious medical condition. 

 Two had substance misuse issues. 

 Two displayed challenging behaviour. 

 One displayed aggression and risk of harm to others. 
 

4.4 Observations 
 

4.4.1 There has been a significant reduction in the number of young people categorised as 
‘green’ becoming NEET, from nine in 2020 to three in 2021. Demonstrating that the 
reinvigoration of the approach, in partnership with Merthyr Schools has contributed 
towards an improvement in performance for which all partners should be 
congratulated. 
 

4.4.2 Table 3 shows that whilst the percentage of young people on EOTAS programmes 
becoming NEET increased slightly to 19% in 2021, over 80% of our most vulnerable 
young people achieved a positive destination post School, which is a significant 
improvement from 2019 when 74% entered a positive destination.  
 

Table 3 

Year No. on EOTAS Plasc % NEET 
 

2016-17 22 18%  (4 yp) 

2017-18 40 22%  (9 yp) 

2018-19 53 26%  (14yp) 

2019-20 45 18%  (8 yp) 

2020-21 36 19%  (7 yp) 

Page 102



4.4.3 The number of young people categorised as ‘high risk NEET’ increased significantly 
following the re-opening of Schools prior to the Easter break, as shown in Table 3.  
An additional 21 young people were ‘added as high risk’ because they had either not 
returned to School or had disengaged from learning.  
 
Table 4 

Year No. ‘Red’ 
categorised 

% Entering 
EET 
 

2017 84  89% (75 yp) 

2018 97 90% (87 yp) 

2019 133 85% (113 yp) 

2020 112 90% (101 yp) 

2021 135 90% (121 yp) 

 
5.0 POSITION STATEMENT 2022 SCHOOL LEAVERS 

 
5.1 As a result of early identification and the work of the School NEET panels, there 

were 123 Year 11 young people supported and tracked over the academic year 
2021-22.  Sixty two of these young people have been identified as being at a 
particularly high risk of NEET when they leave School in the summer of 2022. 
 

5.2 This is higher than in previous years and one of the main concerns highlighted this 
year via the School NEET panels is the number of young people who have not 
returned to School following the full re-opening in September 2021.  Therefore, there 
is a high risk that the NEET figure will increase for 2022. 
 

5.3 Through support provided by Careers Wales and a lead worker, 111 out of the 123 
have a transition plan with an intended destination when they complete year 11.  A 
further 11 young people are being followed up by Schools, lead workers and Careers 
Wales.  One young person has moved out of area. 
 

6.0 KEY DEVELOPMENTS 2021-22 
 

6.1 A number of key developments took place during 2021-22 to complete the NEET 
Strategy, which came to an end in March 2022: 
 

 Following the Families First review funding was secured for the continuation of the 
NEET Co-ordinator post for 2022-23.  Additionally, sufficient funding was 
identified through ESF to extend the Inspire pre and post 16 support projects for 
2022-23. 
 

 Identification of funding for this work beyond 31st March 2023 continues and it has 
now been confirmed by UK Government that pre-16 work focused on addressing 
key factors associated to becoming NEET is eligible within the Shared Prosperity 
Funding People and Sills theme. 

 

 
 

Page 103



 A report was submitted to the Education Scrutiny Committee on 9th February 2022 
outlining the implications of the loss of European Funding and the risk to the local 
authority’s ability to meet the outcomes set out in the  Raising Aspirations Raising 
Standards strategy (RARS) and its obligations under the Youth Engagement and 
Progression Framework (YEPF). 
 

 The comprehensive review of the Early Identification Toolkit (EIT) was completed 
and its implementation is being closely monitored so that any final adjustments 
can be made. 
 

 Information sharing arrangements with internal local authority departments such 
as Social Services and Community Safety has been enhanced in order to support 
the effectiveness of the EIT. 
 

 Following a consultation with young people, staff and key partners, the needs and 
concerns of young people were at the forefront of the development of a new 
Youth Support Services Plan, which has been developed to streamline three 
youth related strategies – Youth Support Services Strategy, Youth Service 
Strategy and NEET Strategy.  The final plan will shortly be presented to Cabinet 
for agreement. 

 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1 Future funding for the NEET Co-ordinator post and the Inspire pre and post 16 
projects is now clearer, as issues around eligibility under the Shared Prosperity fund 
have been resolved.  However, until the project proposals are approved this remains 
a risk to the Local Authority.  This could have significant implications should the 
programme not be approved which currently costs circa £770k per annum. 

 

8.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives 
  

1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development Principles 
- How have you considered the five 
ways of working? 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Socio-economic Disadvantage 
 

1 of 6 0 of 6 5 of 6 

5. Consultation and Engagement 

 
 
 

Undertaken 
Due to be 

Undertaken 
Not Required 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Page 104



6. Data and Evidence to inform the 
proposal 

 

Yes No 

1 of 1 0 of 1 

7. Biodiversity and the resilience of 
Ecosystems 

 
 

Maintained Enhanced Reduced 
Neutral/Not 
Applicable 

0 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary 

The main positive 
impacts are: 

The main positive impacts are that young people aged 11 – 25 at risk 
of becoming NEET are identified and supported in order to make a 
successful transition from School into a post 16 destination and are 
also able to access appropriate support if they become NEET at post 
16.  

The main negative 
impacts are: 

No negatives impacts have been identified. 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES   

COUNCILLOR JULIA JENKINS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2022/23 - Quarter 1
	4 Annual Risk Management Progress Report 2021-22 and Updated Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 Various Roads, Merthyr Tydfil – Proposed Traffic Regulation Orders
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Sheets and Views
	Darren View


	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	6 School Balances 2021-2023
	7 Regional 1,000 Beds & Step Down Bed Proposal
	8 Transforming Towns Programme for Merthyr Tydfil: Development Fund Application Former Synagogue
	9 Transforming Towns Programme for Merthyr Tydfil: Phase 5. Re-development of Marsh House
	10 NEETs Prevention and Performance 2022

